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(A) Coverage Overview
* = Statutes that Could Appear on Test 
1.  Policies Behind Adverse Possession & Policy Implications of Particular Rules
2.  Individual Elements:  Doctrine, Treatment in Cases & Statutes, Policy


a.  Actual; Open & Notorious; Continuous; Exclusive; Adverse


b.  State of Mind Requirement


c.  Lutz; Ray; E. 13th Street; Bell; (See also Marengo Caves P114-15)



d.  Key Sample Statutes (I will not test language of 2011 Fla. Statute)


i) *Old Fla. Stat. §§95.12, 95.16, 95.18 (S93-94)


ii) *N.Y. Civil Practice Act §§34, 35, 39, 40 (S97 Footnote c)


iii) *42 Penn. Cons. Stat. §5530 (S94-95)
3.   Other Issues


a. Color of Title & Possible Implications


b. Existence of Disability Statutes (not responsible for details of operation).


c. Boundary Disputes: Special Rules & Policy Concerns


d. Adverse Possession against the Gov’t (Devins)

(B) List of Relevant Old Exam Questions
1S 3T 4R   Q1-SPRING 2014    Q4-SPRING 2015   Q3-SPRING 2016 
(C) Student Questions from Prior Classes & My Responses
(1) Actual use is generally measured by "normal/ordinary use."  Is this "normal/ordinary use" of an average owner of a similar property in general?    Or is this "normal/ordinary use" of an average owner given their particular circumstances? (e.g. Review Problem 4H where the A.P. was injured for 5 months).  
No case we read explicitly tells us the answer to that question.  If you can’t find other caselaw that helps (as on a test!), you’ll make policy arguments about which approach seems better given the circumstances and given the purposes of adverse possession.
(2) On S112 under “Continuous” it says, "Must meet all elements without significant interruption from the S.O.L. period."   This statement made me wonder if the analysis should include more than just whether the use was "continuous."   In other words, I am unsure if in evaluating the "continuous" element you want to us to weigh in on "actual, open and notorious, exclusive, in relation to continuous, or if we should focus on whether Adverse Possessor's use was continuous in and of itself. 

Because all elements need to be met for the entire adverse possession period, at some level “continuous” incorporates them all.  However, if you are asked to focus on “continuous,” assume that all the other elements are met for at least part of the adverse possession period and talk only about timing issues: whether there were significant interruptions in the possession (as in Review Problem 4H) or whether regular use at specific times of year is sufficient (as in Howard and Review Problem 4G).  

In an appropriate problem (especially a lawyering question or issue-spotter), you could address the crossover of Open & Notorious adopted in Ray, where the court found that the short time of residence didn’t matter when there was sufficient evidence of the claim all year round.  If I want you to do this analysis in a short problem, I will say so explicitly.
(3) What is the relationship between “state of mind” “adverse” “hostile” “claim of right” and “claim of title.”?  Complex!!

(i) Every jurisdiction holds that the adverse possessor cannot succeed if acting with the permission of the original owner.  This requirement is usually called “adverse” or “hostile.”

(ii) Every jurisdiction has cases discussing what state of mind it requires of the adverse possessor.  Most jurisdictions require no particular state of mind; some require good faith; some seem to require bad faith.  

(iii) Some jurisdictions refer to their state of mind requirement as “adversity” or “hostility.”  Some refer to it as “claim of right” or “claim of title.” 

(iv) As far as I know, all jurisdictions require claimants with color of title to have a good faith belief in the validity of their claim.

(v) Some jurisdictions have a different state of mind requirement in boundary disputes, more typically requiring active bad faith than in other adverse possession cases.
(4) Regarding adverse possession, when does the claimant begin counting the days for the purposes of statute of limitations? How would the claimant prove this to the court? 

1st day of actual & open/notorious use (planting crops, starting to construct improvements, moving in, etc.).  Often the precise 1st day doesn't matter because (as in Ray or Lutz or Marengo) you are dealing with longer time periods than the statute and it's good enough to say "Sometime in 1932 or 1933".  If you had to prove a date, you would use testimony of any witnesses and any other proof you could find (utility records; credit card receipts for seeds or fencing; receipts for rental of farming equipment, etc.) plus a certain amount of common sense and working with landmark dates (you always plant pineapples in the late spring; I know it was after the Hurricane but before Bill Clinton was elected president.; it was right before we bought the Corolla, etc.)   

(5) What happens if the true owner develops a disability during the running of the adverse possession period?  A disability only tolls the statute of limitations if the disability is listed in a relevant state statute and if it exists when the cause of action “accrues,” that is, when the adverse possessor first trespasses.   Arguably, we shouldn’t protect owners with disabilities at all, because even if the owner is incompetent, someone ought to be watching over the land on the owner’s behalf.  It may be that the perception is that it is unfair to punish a child or sick person because the guardian was sleeping on the job.  By contrast, an owner who is fully competent at the outset might receive less sympathy because there was at least some opportunity to deal with the trespasser before becoming incapacitated.
(D) Miami Herald Article on Border Dispute

John Dorschner, NIGHTMARE ON 68TH STREET

Tropic Magazine, Miami Herald (May 31, 1992) 

A friend told me he’d just seen the oddest thing.  Workmen were sawing in half the carport of an old house.  It looked ridiculous.  The thing was now wide enough for maybe a motorcycle, nothing more. It was on 68th Street, just east of Biscayne Boulevard.  What the hell was happening?  One morning a few days later, I drove by.  It was the most bizarre piece of architecture I’ve ever seen:  a half‑carport.  I parked and got out.  Under its wooden roof were chunks of rocks that looked like they had once been the driveway.  No one seemed to be home.  The windows were shut.  Termites? Could that be it? The big two‑story house was made of wood, but if there were termite damage, you’d think they’d just replace the damaged boards.  I kept staring, trying to fathom the reason behind the half‑carport.  

I didn’t realize it yet, but I was staring at a strange tale of Miami’s history: a story about the strife and discord that can be created by a tiny piece  of real estate.  It’s enough to give old‑line communists ‑‑ discredited and dying practically everywhere in the world ‑‑ a brief rush of hope: Is this proof at last that private property really is a social disease? Perhaps that’s stretching things too far, though as you will see, not by much.  Perhaps it would be better to think of this as a morality tale, about what happens when a neighborhood runs afoul of the 10th Commandment, the one about coveting your neighbor’s property.  These thoughts, however, came later.  

When I first saw the truncated structure, I was busy pondering the specifics of the territory: The three feet to the right of the structure was freshly sodded, with tall, green grass sitting on patches of black dirt.  Then came the neighbor’s fence ‑‑ a serious chain‑link job, 5 1/2‑feet high, surrounding a large yard and a good‑sized two‑story house.  As I studied the sodded section, an elderly woman in a housecoat came over from this concrete house and stared at me through the fence.  I told her I was a journalist.  I wanted to know about the half‑carport.  

‘What’s the big story with that?’ she asked sternly.  ‘Why don’t you do something about the boulevard?’ She looked westward.  Her two‑story house bordered the lot of a Biscayne Boulevard business.  Several yellow rental trucks stood right against her west‑side fence, which was topped by spirals of barbed wire.  ‘Don’t you know what’s happening on the boulevard?’ she asked.  Hookers, tramps, crack addicts ‑‑ I knew.  It had been written about a hundred times.  I myself had written a huge story about it.  What about the half‑carport? ‘What’s so unusual about it?’ she asked.  ‘It’s still a carport.  You can still put a car in there.’ Maybe if the car was unusually narrow ‑‑ the width, say, of a 10‑speed bike.  I pulled out my notebook to write down her comment.  ‘No no no,’ she said, fleeing the sight of the poised pen.  ‘I don’t want to get involved.  Maybe my husband will want to say something.’ His name was George Clark Smith.  ‘Is he home?’ I asked.  She shook her head.  I passed my business card through the fence to her and asked her to have him call.  

Back at the office, I checked The Herald’s computer to see what had been published about the half‑carport house.  I found two stories, both within the past year.  Last October in the real‑estate listings, it was noted that O.D.  Pullen sold the place to Carl A.  Davis for $69,000.  Last March, a Neighbors story about the area, called Bayside, mentioned the house’s historic past: ‘The wooden frame vernacular house was built in the 1920s .  .  .  and moved in 1938 to its present location.  It has pecky cypress interior walls and ceilings, hardwood floors, pocket doors and windows, and a hand‑crafted metal stair railing.’ No mention of a carport.  

That afternoon, George Clark Smith called me.  Speaking in a gruff cracker drawl, he announced that he was an attorney, descended from the third Colonial governor of Massachusetts.  His grandfather, George Haynes, was an early Miami settler, arriving in 1910.  In 1917, Haynes built the two‑story, poured‑concrete, reinforced steel house on 68th Street that George, 73, and his wife, Marie, were still living in.  Originally, the half‑carport house had been on the boulevard, just to the west of them.  But in 1938 it was moved by a Mr.  Pullen to its present location.  Shortly after the move, George Smith said, Mr.  Pullen added a ‘porte‑cochere’ to the house.  The carport.  

Mr.  Smith had always suspected that the porte‑cochere was over the Smiths’ property line, but he really hadn’t paid much attention to it, he said, until the mid‑‘80s, when the Smiths suffered three break‑ins.  They decided they needed more security and wanted to put up a fence.  To see precisely where their property line was ‑‑ and where the fence could go ‑‑ the Smiths had a survey done.  The survey, Mr.  Smith said, proved that several feet of the porte‑cochere were on the Smith property.  By this time Mr.  Pullen had long since died, and the property was owned by his widow, Olive Pullen, who was well known in the neighborhood as a piano teacher.  The Smiths asked Mrs.  Pullen to do something about the porte‑cochere.  She never did, and several years later, when she sold the place to the Davises, the Smiths were irate that the porte‑cochere was still in place.  

‘We paid the taxes all those years on that lot,’ Mr.  Smith said, meaning the disputed three feet, ‘and they could claim no payment of taxes.’ To right this blatant injustice, he said, he filed a formal notice of encroachment on the property.  When the Davises in turn tried to sell, they found a ‘cloud on the title.’ They could do nothing until the encroachment accusation was resolved.  ‘I never asked him to cut it in half,’ Mr.  Smith said.  ‘But we wanted our land back in its original condition, with good soil and a fine, natural‑Florida grass.  And that’s what they did.  End of story.  Nothing to it.’ He indicated there were no hard feelings on anyone’s part.  ‘Why don’t you write a story about what’s happened to Biscayne Boulevard? That’s the real story,’ he said.  

That evening, I knocked on the door of the half‑carport house.  Carl Davis and his wife, Lori, came to the door.  They had been watching television.  Carl was shirtless, Lori was wearing an old blouse and a small cross of gold.  They were in their late 30s.  Their house was a marvelous blend of woods.  The exterior was Dade County pine.  The interior was pecky cypress ceilings and walls.  It had that warm, homey feeling that only wood gives.  When I told them that Mr.  Smith had said there was ‘nothing to it,’ the Davises grimaced.  

‘It’s been a nightmare,’ Lori said.  Carl, a supervisor with a U.S.  government agency, said they had lived in the Virgin Islands, Georgia, Broward and Palm Beach, ‘and we’ve never had anything like this.’ The Davises were both avid antique collectors; Lori was a member of the National Historic Trust Foundation.  As soon as they saw the house last year, they knew it was for them.  They said Olive Pullen said nothing about the disputed carport.  Before closing, Carl said, a survey was done in order to get title insurance, but the survey was only one of dozens of papers at the closing, and Carl didn’t even look at it. Only after the closing, he said, when sifting through the documents, did he see that the survey showed the carport was encroaching on the Smiths’ property.  The encroachment was also listed as an exception on the Davises’ title insurance.  Carl said he called up the attorney who handled the closing and asked why he hadn’t been informed about this before the deal was completed.  It seemed like a serious matter.  The attorney, Carl said, told him, ‘Don’t worry about that.’ Many old properties have encroachments on them and they are meaningless.  At the time, Carl thought that sounded like a good explanation.  

And so the Davises moved in, with their 1977 Mercedes, their 1983 Volvo station wagon and their pet dachshund, Whistle.  The Davises were part of the gentrification trend ‑‑ younger people moving into houses ‘east of the boulevard’ and fixing them up.  The residents of many streets had gotten barricades put up to separate themselves from the boulevard.  One neighborhood, Belle Meade, even put up a guard house.  Property values were going up.  When the Davises were moving in, the Smiths walked across their side yard to their side of the fence and said hello.  The Davises were accustomed to being welcomed to new locations by having neighbors telling them what a great place they had chosen and giving them a little something, like a cheesecake.  But this wasn’t that kind of neighborhood, and the Smiths weren’t those kind of folks.  They were in their 70s; their car was a 1978 Ford LTD.  They tended to see the dark side of the boulevard, not the improvements that gentrification was bringing.  

There is dispute over much of what happened between the Smiths and the Davises, if not over the substance of events, then over the tone in which the debate was conducted.  The Smiths maintain that they were unfailingly polite and reasonable.  The Davises say that’s wrong, that Mrs.  Smith frequently shouted at them.  As they were moving in, the Davises say, the Smiths warned them how scary the neighborhood was, and advised that they not to leave their upstairs windows open, because burglars could climb up there.  Mrs.  Smith said she had a black belt in karate and could toss a man to the ground with a flip of her wrist.  Mr.  Smith gave them advice on how to deal with burglars: ‘You can’t shoot them in the yard.  You have to shoot them in the house.’ No mention was made of the carport.  

That came a few days later, when Carl happened to be standing in the driveway.  Marie Smith came running over.  It was as if she had been waiting at her window for Carl to come outside.  ‘Do you know,’ she shouted, ‘that your carport is on our property?’ ‘Yeah,’ Carl remembers saying, ‘I recognize that the survey does indicate that.’ ‘Well, we want you to take your carport down,’ Mrs.  Smith said.  ‘Either you take your carport down, or we’ll run our fence right through it.’ Carl was astounded.  Was it possible that a carport that had been sitting there for half a century must be torn down? He couldn’t imagine it. Perhaps this outburst by Mrs.  Smith was a one‑time deal.  It wasn’t.  

Soon, the Davises say, shouting about the carport became a regular ritual: Carl would come home from work, pull his car into the disputed structure, and see Mrs.  Smith run up, screaming, ‘When are you going to take the carport down?’ Mr. Smith denies warning the Davises about their upstairs windows.  He acknowledges that his wife is a karate black belt, but says he never said anything about shooting burglars.  His wife never threatened to run a fence through the Davises’ carport.  It was Carl Davis who volunteered the information about the encroachment.  He says neither he nor his wife ever screamed at the Davises.  They always mentioned the problem politely.  

However the message was delivered, it was clear to Carl Davis that he had a serious problem. He decided he needed to do some research.  Part of the problem for the Davises was that their house was in one of the oldest sections of South Florida, and many residents had been there for decades.  Mary Diack, who lived across the street, was known as the Cat Lady because she had about 25 cats, strays that had gravitated to her over the years.  She had lived on 68th Street since 1959, making her one of the newcomers.  George Smith had moved into his grandfather’s house in 1952.  Nearby was Florence Green, an octogenarian who had arrived in the 1920s.  Her in‑laws had helped settle the neighborhood decades before, and she has stayed on in their old, wooden‑jalousied, high‑ceilinged house of poured concrete.  

Originally the area was called Lemon City.  People began living there in the 1880s, usually arriving by boat at a large dock on the bay at the end of what is now 61st Street.  If travelers kept going six miles to the south, along a sandy road, they came to the village of Miami, which was located at the mouth of the Miami River.  In the early 1900s, squads of folks from Elmira, N.Y., began buying lots in Lemon City.  In 1909, an area was platted as Elmira Subdivision.  What is now 68th Street began life as Elmira Street, with two large stone columns marked ‘Elmira’ at the intersection of the street and the sandy road, which eventually become Biscayne Boulevard.  George Clark Smith remembers the place as a small town, where people strolled down the boulevard as they would Main Street, to see and be seen.  

As a boy, George and his grandfather sometimes walked down to the end of Elmira Street, where it met the bay.  There was a pier there, open to everyone, and the boy could fish in the clear waters, catching snapper and sea trout and snook and shiners.  The countryside began around 79th Street, where sprawling strawberry fields covered the area now occupied by the Biscayne Plaza Shopping Center.  ‘They had some of the finest soil there you can imagine,’ George recalled.  ‘Allapattah had very good soil, too, back in those days.  There were a lot of strawberry fields in Allapattah, too.’ Strawberry fields, alas, are not forever.  

After World War II, Miami boomed as a tourist destination, and motels sprouted along U.S. 1, which was now Biscayne Boulevard.  During the winter season in the 1950s, rooms rented for $60 a night ‑‑ more than double what they rent for today.  Where the Exxon station now stands at 61st Street was a huge, thriving drive‑in restaurant called Coconuts, where people got choc malts and fries, as wholesome a place as you’d find anywhere in Eisenhower’s America.  On quiet 68th Street, Florence Green raised a family.  One of her sons was an artist, and in the mid‑1960s he did many paintings for the inside of the new Palm Bay Club, a high‑rise that came to dominate the neighborhood’s waterfront.  The club fenced off the land where George Clark Smith had gone fishing as a boy, but still it seemed like an upscale addition to the neighborhood.  

On the boulevard, however, the changes were decidedly not upscale.  The creation of Interstate 95 made U.S. 1 irrelevant, and the motels became desperate for customers.  Lowering their rates, many became homes to women of dubious repute.  Later came the drug dealers.  Three years ago, I spent several days walking the boulevard for a Tropic cover story: Life On The Edge.  The subhead: This Is No Man’s Land.  He Who Controls It May Control Miami’s Future.  A Walk Through The Battlefield.  The tension arose from the fight between the hookers‑dopers and the yuppie forces that supported places like Real Foods, the organic grocery store.  I talked to hookers, store owners and police officers.  I watched detectives try to piece together a drug‑overdose death.  Biscayne Boulevard had a little of everything.  

‘More than anything, it’s an edge,’ city planner Jack Luft told me.  ‘It’s not a center.  It’s an edge between changing neighborhoods that have not yet settled into a stable pattern.  It doesn’t belong to anybody.  No city street is really going to thrive unless the people on it lay claim to it.  If they don’t, then the hookers and dope dealers take over.’ At the time, I wasn’t certain who was winning the battle for the boulevard, and there was one subsection of the struggle that I missed completely: a tiny monument marker in the middle of the street that surveyors use to get their bearings.  

Jim Shiskin, of Schwebke‑Shiskin, a survey firm that has been in business for more than four decades, says that in the mid‑1970s, when the company did a survey on the street, it noticed all sorts of historical evidence ‑‑ fences, hedges, old boundary markers that showed the 50‑foot‑ and 100‑foot‑lot boundary lines were off by about 2 1/2 feet if measured from the monument marker in the middle of the boulevard.  So do you trust the monument marker or the historic evidence? The Schwebke‑Shiskin people went with the historic evidence.  ‘You can’t ignore historical evidence of old property lines,’ he says.  He figures that at some point in the past, when the boulevard was being widened, the monument marker was removed and then was replaced accidentally about 2.5 feet to the east.  That meant, if the marker were followed, all property lines would be shifted about a yard eastward.  In 1986, prompted by the Smiths’ accusations about the carport, Olive Pullen had a survey done by Schwebke‑Shiskin, which used the historic evidence, not the boulevard marker.  It showed that the carport was four inches away from the Smiths’ land.  ‘We could really sue,’ George Clark Smith says of the surveyors.  He was convinced the marker in the boulevard was the correct measurement, not the ‘historical evidence’ that Shiskin talked about.  

Some months ago, when the Smiths started complaining about the carport, Carl Davis found the old Pullen survey, but it didn’t reassure him: He had also discovered several other surveys that had been done over the years that seemed to indicate the Smiths were right.  The carport was encroaching on the Smiths’ land.  Worried, Carl called another attorney, whom we shall call Attorney No. 2.  No. 2 demanded a $500 retainer, which Carl paid.  For this, No. 2 listened to Carl’s tale of woe, made a few phone calls, maybe did some research and fired off a letter to the attorney at the closing, whom we can call Attorney No. 1.  No. 1 stated that he had fully informed Carl of the problem prior to closing, and there was a title agent who had witnessed the conversation.  The title agent agreed that the conversation had taken place.  The two real‑estate agents at closing said they hadn’t heard it.  Attorney No. 2 told Carl the retainer had been used up and the Davises owed $100 more.  No. 2 wanted another retainer before he did anything else.  Carl didn’t like the sound of this.  Six hundred dollars and what he basically got was one letter? Forget it, he decided.  He paid off the $100 debt, and that was it.  No. 2 stopped working on the case.  

Meanwhile, the Davises say, Mrs.  Smith was continuing to be rather vocal.  The Davises put up an eight‑foot‑high wooden fence on the other side of their property, and Mrs. Smith hated it.  She wondered aloud to Lori Davis if the Davises were trying to hide something.  Perhaps they were taking in ‘boarders,’ in violation of the zoning code.  Lori says that a painter she hired told her that Mrs. Smith had even mocked the Davises’ ‘luxury’ automobile, the 15‑year‑old Mercedes.  Plus, the Davises say, Mrs.  Smith kept screeching about the carport.  

Mr. Smith says that he and his wife did indeed wonder what the big wooden fence was supposed to hide, but they didn’t make any snide remark about the Mercedes.  If someone wants to own a foreign car, that’s fine with Mr. Smith, and he says he felt no envy over the fact that the car was somewhat fancier than his 1978 Ford LTD, which is ‘in perfect running condition.’  Mr. Smith adds that he doesn’t resent younger people moving into the neighborhood, and he likes the rising property values that they’ve brought.  But the Smiths were indeed concerned about the offending carport.  ‘A man’s home is his castle,’ Mr. Smith says simply.  And he was deeply offended that the Davises’ carport was sitting on a sliver of the castle’s grounds.  He says he was serious about getting the land back.  

As the dispute dragged on, dark thoughts started running through Lori Davis’ mind.  She began wondering if the Smiths were angry enough to do something rash.  ‘I’m not living next door to that woman,’ Lori decided.  She says she and Carl had been planning to live on 68th Street for quite a while, but the tension was just too much.  They had already started some home improvements, and now they accelerated them: putting in new electrical wiring, painting the outside, redoing some of the wood finishing inside.  In February, they put their house on the market for $79,000 ‑‑ $10,000 more than they had paid for it last July.  

Within two days, a young flight attendant named Robert Goulet saw the house.  Robert, a distant relation of the famed singer, was living in an apartment in Miami Beach.  He was looking for an old house with a lot of character.  He had put in bids on three different houses and been turned down each time.  He was feeling discouraged, but friends told him everything would turn out all right in the end.  ‘Your house will come along,’ they assured him.  When he saw the Davises’ house, he knew this was the house.  It had four bedrooms, three baths, a full attic ‑‑ and enough character for a dozen old houses.  The Davises told them that there was a running dispute with the Smiths about the carport.  Robert Goulet didn’t care.  He offered the Davises their full asking price: $79,000.  Before closing, a researcher for the title company did a records search, then called Carl: ‘We have a big problem here,’ he told Carl.  A formal notice of encroachment had been filed by George Clark Smith against the Davises’ property.  The house couldn’t be sold until the problem was cleared up.  

Carl and Lori were stunned.  They hadn’t really believed that their neighbor could stop them from selling their house.  They talked to Sharon Bock, who became Attorney No. 3.  Bock told the Davises that they had a good chance of winning a lawsuit, because the carport had been sitting there, legally unchallenged, for 54 years and because the Smiths had not filed an encroachment notice when Mrs. Pullen sold the house.  But there was no absolute guarantee that the court’s verdict would be favorable.  What’s more, the lawsuit would cost a bundle.  If it took $600 to write a letter, the Davises figured, it might take more than $10,000 to bring the case to trial.  Mr. Smith would be fighting them happily and cheaply, because as an attorney, he wouldn’t have to spend a penny in legal fees.  Worse, a drawn‑out lawsuit would mean that the Davises would have to remain neighbors of the Smiths for quite a while, until the lawsuit was settled.  Not good.  

Perhaps, the real‑estate agents suggested, the Davises could just buy the disputed three feet.  Carl suspected that, that was what the Smiths really wanted.  But he wasn’t feeling any generosity toward the Smiths, and negotiating with such adamant folks was not an appealing prospect.  Still, an agent ‑‑ acting on behalf of the buyer ‑‑ called the Smiths and asked what they would take for the disputed land.  Mr.  Smith responded that he wouldn’t part with it, even for $50,000.  Shrinking the size of his property, he said, ‘would ruin our lot situation.’ The carport controversy was becoming a wretched business.  ‘I was shocked and a little sickened,’ the Davises’ real‑estate agent, Norah Schaefer, said about the notice of encroachment.  But what could be done? After weeks of agonizing, Norah suggested a Solomon‑like solution: ‘Cut the damn thing down.’ Or, more precisely, cut it in half: The Davises needed to keep half the carport because it supported an upstairs bathroom, but workmen could chop off half the roof, move the wooden support columns over, and create a half‑carport.  Robert Goulet, the prospective buyer, said that was fine with him.  The carport came down.  

What more needed to be done? Mr.  Smith, in his encroachment notice, demanded that there be ‘restoration of the ground with grass.’ He wanted to approve all changes.  Carl himself took a pickax and chopped up the old coral‑rock driveway.  The old posts had been embedded in concrete.  The Davises checked with Mr.  Smith.  Get rid of the concrete, he demanded.  The Davises did.  They put in black dirt and grass.  What else? asked the Davises.  Mr.  Smith wanted them to remove the backyard fence that touched his fence.  The Davises did.  The Smiths watched all this solemnly.  ‘Look,’ Lori Davis asked Marie Smith at one point, ‘what more do you want from me?’ Well, there was the clothesline.  One pole holding the clothesline was on the Smith property.  Carl took it down.  

The  Davises  had removed everything that could have possibly encroached on the Smiths’ property, but these actions alone could not remove the notice of encroachment.  To do that, they would either have to go to court or get Mr.  Smith to sign a release form.  Attorney No.  3, Bock, offered to send a courier over to pick up the release.  George Clark Smith said no.  He insisted on personally attending the closing.  He arrived wearing one of those old‑fashioned 10‑gallon felt cowboy hats.  At the last moment, he handed over the release. The deal was done: Robert Goulet bought the house.  According to the agreement, the Davises can continue living in the house until today.  When they move, that would seem to be the end of the dispute.  Perhaps it would be in Elmira, N.Y.  But not in Miami.  In Miami, things were just getting started.  

One afternoon, I drifted around the neighborhood.  The Smiths said they had no plans to move their fence to cover their new territory, although they might later.  All Marie Smith was doing was watering the new grass with a hose from inside her fence.  Mary Diack, the Cat Lady, thought what had happened to the carport was awful.  ‘The Davises made such a big improvement with that property,’ she said.  ‘If somebody wants the land back, they shouldn’t wait 50 years.’  Mrs. Green agreed.  She thought the Smiths were being ‘mean’ for demanding that the carport be removed, but she had her own concerns: She was having a new heavy security door installed, along with iron bars.  She was feeling as though she needed more protection.  About a year ago, someone had broken into her house and taken a couple of marble table tops.  That was the second time she had been burglarized in the past decade ‑‑ not bad by neighborhood standards ‑‑ but ‘I noticed I was the only one on the street without bars.’ She spent $2,000 on the bars and the new door.  Neither Mrs.  Green nor Mary the Cat Lady wanted to say anything about the Smiths: Both said they were afraid of getting sued.  (When I had reached Olive Pullen by telephone, she had said the same thing.  She was living quietly in Virginia, and didn’t want to get involved because she feared the Smiths might sue.) 

I walked over to the Smiths’ neighbors on the boulevard side ‑‑ the former motel that had been converted into a travel agency and truck‑rental place.  In the office, a guy sat at a desk, a large jar of jelly and a large jar of peanut butter and a box of crackers in front of him.  From these items he was meticulously making layered treats.  A TV set was showing a Bewitched rerun.  It didn’t look like he was expecting a horde of customers.  ‘I know what you should write about,’ the guy said after I told him who I was.  ‘Let me guess,’ I responded quickly, hoping to cut him off.  ‘The boulevard!’ he shouted, rushing ahead.  He had been on the boulevard since 1960, first with a business called Caribbean Interiors, then with the motel.  ‘I bought this motel back in 1975 and then all the whores started coming in, and I closed it down.’ The police back in 1978 promised him that the boulevard would be cleaned up in a year, but the place had only gotten worse.  Across the street, he was constantly seeing crack dealers and hookers.  

The guy said he didn’t want his name used because he wanted to avoid ‘controversy,’ but he, too, had had run‑ins with the Smiths.  When he’d converted the motel into a truck‑rental agency, he’d put up a fence at the back so thieves couldn’t sneak in at night and take the trucks.  Mr.  Smith had objected, complaining that the fence split a shared driveway that the Smith family had used for generations.  By historic usage, Mr.  Smith claimed, the Smiths really owned the driveway.  But wouldn’t that same argument grant the Davises’ ownership of the carport? I asked the truck guy about that.  He said he hadn’t gotten involved in the Davises’ fight, but years before, during the Smiths’ dispute with Mrs.  Pullen, the piano teacher, he had sided with Mrs.  Pullen and measured the property himself.  He found the Smiths were wrong.  

‘I’ll show you,’ he said, pulling out what might be considered the neighborhood’s weapon of choice: A 100‑foot tape measure.  We went outside.  At the edge of the street, right by the fence that separated his property from the Smiths’, a small metal stake was embedded in the concrete.  ‘This is the property mark,’ he said, attaching the end of the tape to it.  We walked east toward the Davises’ property. About 12 to 18 inches past the Smiths’ fence, the 100 feet stopped.  ‘Look,’ the guy said, pulling out a copy of an old plat map.  ‘Each lot is 50 feet wide.  The Smiths had two lots ‑‑ that’s 100 feet.  The carport didn’t start until about two feet from the fence, so....’ He examined the new half‑carport.  ‘What a shame,’ he said.  ‘There was no need for that.’  

Just then, Mrs.  Smith came running out of her house.  ‘What are you doing?’ she said, eyeing the tape measure.  She could see damn well what he was doing.  He was ... measuring! She stared for a moment at the tape, then swung around and looked at the guy’s property line.  ‘Why do you have your trucks there?’ she asked, resuming the old battle about the unsightly trucks.  ‘Because of all the whores and dope dealers on the boulevard,’ he replied.  ‘You know that.’ ‘You had a nice place,’ she said.  ‘Yes, I did.’ ‘That was your livelihood.’ ‘Yes it was.’ Briefly, they shared mournful observations about the deterioration of the boulevard, then the truck guy left, rolling in his tape as he went.  

Over the next several days, the drama continued.  The truck guy’s son, Julius, re‑did the measurement to show Carl Davis exactly where the property line was, and as they were standing outside, Mrs. Smith ran out, yelling at the son, ‘I’m going to sue you, I’m going to sue you!’ A few days later, she showed up by the fence with some workmen who were staring at the new sod and having discussions.  What was she planning? Moving the fence? 

The next day, I called the Smiths.  Mrs.  Smith reported that, at that very moment, Lori Davis and the truck guy’s son were standing in the street and ... talking.  ‘They’re doing it right now!’ she complained.  The Smiths had no regrets about the battle to claim their additional three feet.  ‘You could never get a loan or sell the property unless that was resolved,’ Mr.  Smith said, though he added that he has no plans to apply for a loan or sell the property.  Still, the apparent resolution of the land dispute did not seem to salve their bitterness.  

Listening to George Clark Smith, descendant of the third governor of Colonial Massachusetts, I got the sense that life had been going downhill for decades.  The small‑town Miami of the 1920s, the placid boulevard where they had once shopped and strolled and met friends, had disappeared.  No coincidence, I thought, that they had first focused on the property dispute after their house had been broken into three times in rapid succession.  I imagined how easily their anger at the decay of the boulevard might have shifted to the carport.  As their world shrank, each square inch of their property became a fighting matter.  In fact, protecting their land seemed the only way they could fight back.  The arrival of the Davises clearly didn’t improve the situation.  Most of their neighbors were overjoyed by the improvements the Davises made.  Not the Smiths.  Though Mr.  Smith says he felt no envy or hostility toward his new neighbors, he did press the encroachment issue in a way that he never had with the elderly Mrs.  Pullen.  

As for the Davises, well, they aren’t feeling all that happy lately, either.  In recent days, they have begun to have second thoughts about chopping the carport in half and selling the property.  ‘This article isn’t going to make us look like fools, is it?’ Carl asked me one day on the phone.  He and Lori had been looking for weeks for a new house, searching for something old with a lot of character.  They could find nothing in their price range and were resigning themselves to moving into a rental. ‘Sometimes, we wonder if we were a little too hasty,’ Carl said.  Prices have been going up quickly in the area.  Is the area really improving?  Depends on who you ask.  

Julius, the son of the guy at the truck‑rental place, still has a lot of complaints about the boulevard.  He still sees lots of hookers and crack dealers, even in the area around the boulevard’s new police mini‑station.  ‘That so‑called station doesn’t do much.  The officers come there to go to the bathroom or make a phone call, that’s it.  It’s a waste of taxpayers’ money.’ Joan Lutton, a long‑time boulevard activist and principal of the Cushman School, disagrees.  She thinks there’s been considerable improvement in the three years since I wrote my story on the boulevard.  Still, her list of improvements is hardly an indication of neighborhood perfection: ‘Police response time is definitely better.  We almost never see a crack dealer.  There are these new signs we have ‑‑ Drug Free School Zone.  A dealer sees one of those and he knows he’s facing an extra penalty if he’s caught.  We used to see pimps beating up hookers.  Now we don’t.  The three or four blocks around us are pretty clean.  We haven’t had a break‑in in over a year ‑‑ knock on wood.  ‘I’ve worked here 13 years.  I grew up in this area.  I went to Miami Edison, and I think this area’s going to get quite good, but it’s never going to be like it was back in the 1950s.  Old‑timers might want that.  They’re not willing to accept all these changes.  But we’ve become a vibrant community, with a lot of variety, and frankly the 1950s were a little bland.  So we’ve had a lot of good changes.’ 

On 68th Street, more changes are on the way.  The Smiths’ new neighbor, Robert Goulet, plans to separate himself from them with a high wooden fence ‑‑ so he will never have to see them.  He’s also talking to neighbors, drumming up support for the idea of barricading the street so it would be separated from Biscayne Boulevard.  ‘We’re going to close the street off!’ he boasts happily.  Guess who doesn’t want the street closed? The Smiths.  They hate the idea of a barricade: It would make it harder for police and firemen to reach them.  Mr. Smith says he represents several Belle Meade residents who are fighting the guard house that was recently installed for their neighborhood.  Such things, he says, are not ‘improvements.’ 

A possibly even more serious conflict is brewing.  This one concerns ‑‑ surprise! ‑‑ property lines.  Recently, after I visited him, the truck guy was struck with an idea ‑‑ a revelation, almost.  It was perfectly clear from the plat maps that the Smiths should have 100 feet along 68th Street, nothing more.  But he could tell from the measurements that, including the newly sodded area, the Smiths were claiming about 103 feet.  So, in classic 68th Street fashion, the truck guy decided to fight back by ...  commissioning a survey! He  figured the Davis‑Goulet three feet is gone.  Those folks surrendered.  Gave up.  Threw in the towel.  But it doesn’t seem right to him that the Smiths get that extra three feet.  So he called a surveyor who came and measured.  The conclusion: The truck guy owned about three feet of land inside the Smiths’ fence.  He dreamed aloud about tearing down the old chain‑link fence with the barbed wire that currently separates his big yellow trucks from the Smiths.  He’d take the extra three feet and build an eight‑foot‑high concrete wall to block off his neighbors.  ‘I can really use it,’ the truck guy said of the additional property.  But he seemed more interested in what the news would do to his neighbors.  ‘This,’ he said gleefully, ‘is really going to steam off the Smiths.’ ‘Getting their just deserts!’ croaked Norah Schaefer, the real‑estate agent, when she heard the news.  ‘Oh beautiful!’ 

‘No! No!’ responded Mr.  Smith when he heard about the new survey.  ‘That’s wrong.’ He insisted those survey people were using the wrong marker.  The idea that he now had 103 feet was irrelevant, he said, because property lines aren’t a matter of measuring with a tape, but relying on markers, and he had had a survey done by a top‑notch man who, he pointed out, had done work for NASA.  ‘He knew his business,’ Mr.  Smith said proudly.  Julius, the truck guy’s son, says baloney: 103 feet is 103 feet, which is three feet too many.  The family attorney sent Mr.  Smith a letter, claiming three feet on the boulevard side.  A week passed.  Suddenly, Mr.  Smith’s mood shifted.  After thinking about it, he said, he understood Julius’ position: ‘He’s entitled to some of it,’ he said of his western border.  ‘I have no objection to him.’ Even if Mr.  Smith concedes this latest turf battle, however, that doesn’t mean that things on the street are going to quiet down.  Because of the marker shift years ago, Julius says, everybody’s property on 68th Street east of the boulevard is going to be moving east by three feet or so.  ‘A lot of neighbors don’t know it, but they’re encroaching on each other.’  Stay tuned.  

 (E) Review Problems: Comments & Best Answers

(1) Review Problem 4A (S106) (Ariadne & Actual Use) 
(a) Professor’s Comments:  This is a very early exam question.   Students only had 15 Minutes to answer and there were no Professor’s Comments on the exam answers.  Here are comments on the 2014 class discussion and critiques:


(i) Hedge as “Substantial” Enclosure:  We’re missing both facts about the size and shape of the hedge and legal standards about what constitutes a “substantial” enclosure. (some students suggested comparisons to the delineated borders in Lutz and Ray, but neither case ruled on whether those borders constituted sufficient enclosures.)  Reasonable to assume that AP’s case becomes stronger the taller, wider, and more unbroken the hedge is.  Some specific student ideas about relevant considerations:

A. Sufficient to Exclude People from Lot? The idea probably comes from Bell, which said that a fence was a good way for an APor to demonstrate exclusive use of the land in Q as against the public.  I think showing exclusion might be helpful on the actual use element as well, because it is consistent with demonstrating a claim to the land and with bthe “substantial” requirement.  However, that doesn’t mean exclusion is necessary to meet actual use.  A fence with an easy to open gate encloses without excluding.  And the other common forms of showing actual, cultivation and improvements, do not do a good job excluding other people either. 

B. Hedge is Only One Side, but Completes a Four-Sided Enclosure:  Some students argued she shouldn’t credit for the four-sided enclosure when she only provided one of the sides.  In practice, you’d like to see how much of the enclosure the caselaw requires.  Absent precedent, you could discuss how best to handle this looking to purposes behind AP.  Might look to percentage of the enclosure added by the APor; seems unlikely to be enough if she fills in 18 inch gap in 800 yards of enclosing wall.  On the other hand, it seems wasteful to require that she redo or duplicate a significant part of the enclosure just so she can say she did it all herself.
C. Hedge is Different Material than Stone Wall: Some 2014 students suggested the hedge shouldn’t count for this reason.  Assuming the section of hedge completing the enclosure is “substantial,” not clear to me why it would have to be made of the same material as the stone wall.  Nothing specific we read requires uniform material and it’s pretty common to have properties enclosed by sections made of different materials (stone walls, different kinds of fences, hedges) thus could meet ordinary owner test.  I think it’s better to focus on whether this hedge is sufficient for the purpose.  



A couple of students made a related claim that a hedge shouldn’t count because it is not a typical material for enclosures.  I think this is simply incorrect.  Many large estates in the U.S, and Britain use big hedges as part of their enclosures, especially along roadways.


(ii) Improvements, Cultivation, Enclosure (ICE) Together:  I had suggested in the context of Lutz that a court finding insufficient evidence of each of the three statutory ICE categories standing alone might still look at what the APor did in the aggregate as sufficient to constitute actual use.  This would entail saying, e.g., a nearly complete enclosure plus some cultivation might be enough to adversely possess the whole lot. Note that this approach is probably inconsistent with Lutz, but another state with ICE requirements might buy it.



I asked you to consider whether that approach might work here. Best version of the facts for AP might be something like:

· Improvements:  Not met b/c no substantial building or repairs, but repainting the wall is at least a minor repair and picking up lot is regular maintenance, so perhaps some credit for improving property value.

· Cultivation:  No plants grown for food or sale, but hedge is maintained plant growth on lot that is clearly (from shape, location, regular trimming) not just wild plants.

· Enclosure: Hedge must not meet test itself, or we wouldn’t have to resort to this kind of extension of existing rules.  However, it did serve to at least delineate theedges of the lot and probably showed an attempt bto make a claim.

· Together:  Pretty thin on each category and considerably less overall activity bthan, e.g., what Lutz rejected.  Court unlikely to buy this unless meets ord. owner test or court thinks this is kind of beneficial use that we should reward.
(iii) Use Like Ordinary Owner of Similar Property: As we suggested in class, this is a tricky test to apply to these facts because “ordinary use of a vacant lot” is almost an oxymoron.  How the test plays out may depend on the nature of the neighborhood.  Some possibilities:
· Fully Developed: If almost every lot in the area contains an occupied residence or an operating business, a court is unlikely to find her activities sufficient to meet this test.
· Buffer Lots Common:  As Jason cleverly noted, in relatively wealthy neighbor-hoods, owners sometimes buy up neighboring lots to extend their yards and limit the effects of nasty noisy nosy neighbors.  If this practice is relatively common here, than AP’s use may well meet this test.
· Empty Lots & Vandalism Common: If the area contains many vacant lots and graffiti and vandalism are common, AP’s activities might be appropriate for an ordinary owner holding the lot as a long-term investment.

(iv) Furthering Relevant Policies: 

A. Notice to OO:  The new hedge and the trimming and maintenance would provide some notice of claim to OO.  In 2014, we tossed around the idea that a local govt or neighborhood group might do some of this sort of clean-up.  This kind of collective action does not occur everywhere, so I think it would only affect notice in places where it is known to be common.  If AP’s maintenance and clean-up made the lot strikingly different from those around it, you could use Ray to support viewing her acts as sufficient to provide notice.

B. Rewarding Beneficial Labor/Protecting Psychic Connection:  AP’s activities almost certainly create non-trivial benefits to society.  At the very least, they will bolster the property value of nearby lots. Whether we need to reward/protect what she’s done may depend in part on how frequently (and for how long) she worked on the lot; more work usually translates into more benefits and more connection.  However, as several students have pointed out over the years, awarding ownership of the lot may seem a disproportionate benefit for this level of activity.  Moreover, because she lives next door, she has bolstered both the appearance and the value of her own land, which might be seen as reward enough. 

(v) Comparisons to Cases in Notes Raised in Critiques
· Madson (S105): Finds no actual use where adverse possessor did some light maintenance at something like the frequency that seems to have existed here.  However, there was nothing like an enclosure in that case. 
· Tippett  (P113):  Held construction of a wall sufficient actual use even if land inside not used for any active purpose.  This would be helpful here if court concludes hedge plus walls = substantial enclosure.
· Doty (P113-14):  Court found APor had done enough by registering lot in a govt program that then paid the APor to do nothing with the land except clear off weeds.   I think this result is not so much approval of very skimpy actual use as it is treatingthe APor as an ordinary owner of land participating in that govt program. 
(b) Student Answer #1:  The first requirement is that she get physically on the land enough to leave substantial evidence of an entrance. She has probably been seen on the lot so this would be phys​ical entry.

Next the use of the land must be appropriate or ordina​ry for the land.  If one considered the purpose of the lot to just add physical beauty to the area around them she did a good job in using it because she made it clean.  But if one thinks the lot should be lived in or farmed then she doesn’t meet this purpose.


Some states require cultivation or improvements and they usually prefer fences or buildings and repairs as phys​ical evidence. One could say she has cultivated by planting the hedge but others would say that cultivation refers to farming and this would not be appropriate.  She has improved and made repairs because cleaning it up and repairing walls by removing the paint but some jurisdictions would require she make more substantial contributions like building a shed.

Sometimes they require a reasonable percentage of the land be used.  She has used a small percentage if she can be considered to be using it at all.  This depends on leniency of the court.  She would definitely not have constructive possession under color of title so in Fl, she wouldn't have to pay taxes on it for use as in most other states.  Adri​adne has a possibility of meeting the requirement but not a strong one.

(b) Student Answer #2:  A has totally enclosed the property by putting in hedge.  In some jurisdictions, that and trimming and clean​ing, etc. would be enough.  Usually there's a requirement that the use be "appropriatel” to the land.  What's "appro​priate” for a vacant lot? The problem doesn't say what she does w/ it beyond cleaning graffitti and fixing hedge, etc.  In some jurisdictions her cleaning the graffitti off might not be "substantial" enough (like repair of fence in one case.).

She's "improved" it no doubt by cleaning it up and hauling off trash, etc. but usually "improvements" have to be "substantial" like a house.  If she's not doing any more than what's in the problem (like growing vegetables, using as garden, keeping others out, etc.) but rather is just making it look nicer, and say, everyone in the neighborhood is using sort of as a park, maybe she just intends a public service.


The fact the the land was vacant and uncared for sort of shifts the equities in her favor since, if nothing else, she keeping it cleaned up and looking better.  The adverse possession "usell requirement is a statement (somewhat) of favoring owners who use a property "better".  Plus there's the issue of how attached psychically she is by virtue of her use, which maybe we want to protect, reward her use (cleaning etc.) and not hurt after all this time (10 years). ao in some places her enclosure and improvements may be enough, given those policies and in others not.  Realistic​ally, probably depends on how good an "excusell there is on the part of the "real" owner for his/her failure of atten​tion: Ex.: Slumland lord would probably lose.  Child who inherited prosperity who is now of age, might not.

(c) Student Answer #3:  The adverse possession statutes were instituted to reward productive owners using land, quieting titles and punishing sleeping owners.  The element of use varies among different jurisdictions.  Any use, however, must be sufficient in order for the community to reasonably consider the adverse possessor the owner of the land.  Constructive possession is not sufficient.

Although some attempt to use the property, her use was very limited.  Some jurisdictions state cultivation, enclosure or residence.  Her efforts to repaint the f ence whenever graffiti appeared and to plant a hedge across the fourth side of the lot was an effort to enclose the property.  However, it does not indicate that she was attempting to claim adverse possession.  The actual owner of the property could also have made these same repairs or improvements.  Her removing the garbage would also not be sufficient evidence since the county often requires owners to clear vacant lots and remove all garbage.


If she wanted to protect any adverse interest claim she would have, she should have cultivated the property, built a residence or some building on the property, or used the property on a regular basis in order to justify a visible entry and use of the property.  The court in Van Valkenburgh held that the adjoining property owner had not qualified for adverse possession even though he had cultivated the land and part of his building was located on the land.  They claimed that the proof failed to establish actual possession.  This is very similar, although Ariadne actually did less to claim possession that the Van Valkenburgh.  All she did to protect her interest was paint the fence and plant a hedge and occasionally remove garbage.

While you want to give land to the person with the highest value of use, using the adjoining lot in this manner does not overrule the policy behind having the actual owner leave his lot vacant temporarily.  The actual owner may have bought the land for future use, may not be able to visit the land on a regular basis, and even if he did visit the land, her possession would not indicate to him that someone was adverse possessing the land.  Adverse possessors must mark property in a visible way so that the community will know they are the owners.  Actual use would constitute more actions than Ariadne took.  Allowing her to use the land as vacant land does not benefit society like allowing a person who is actually living on the land or using the land for cultivation.  There is no benefit to society to justify taking away the owner's property rights.

(d) Student Answer #4:  The actual use requirement of adverse possession man​dates that an individual must actually get on the property and take some substantial action.  Indeed there must be physical evidence or overt acts showing there is an entry. Depending on the jurisdiction, cultivation, enclosure, or improvements may be required.  In Fla, the APer must 1) cultivate or improve the land or 2) enclose.


Here, there is a strong argument that her entry has been substantial and therefore she has been adversely possessing.  For example, her planting the hedge across the fourth side of the lot could be construed as en​closing the entire piece or property thus fulfilling the re​quirement of enclosure.  Likewise, her maintaining the walls by repainting and scrubbing off the graffitti went towards her effort to clarify the boundaries and thus establish a stake.  If a broad interpretation was taken her planting/ growing of the hedges could be considered cultivation.  How​ever, chances are this may be deemed unsubstantial by the court as there was a case where planting 6 bushes and trees was not enough for actual possession.


On the other hand, her painting and repairing could be considered improvements as was removing the trash.  Indeed, the court has sometimes been flexible in interpreting the actual use requirement (case which APers took gravel from lot, granted permission to others and then sued trespassers was upheld as actual use of the ground).  The biggest prob​lem for Nosey will be determining if it was substantial or not. Valkenbergh, the court held that removal of garbage, bringing an action against trespasser, and cleaning up gar​bage was not enough to satisfy the actual use requirement. Indeed, Nosey's attempt to AP the land through her actions may ultimately hinge on the court's willingness to play with the elements in conjuction with interpreting her intent.

(2) Review Problem 4B (S106) (School Uses & Actual)

This is 2016 Problem 2A.

Comments & Best Answers Available with the 2016 Exam on the Course Page. 
(3) Review Problem 4C (S106) (Opinion/Dissent: Underground O&N)

This is 2016 Question III.

Comments & Best Answers Available with the 2016 Exam on the Course Page.
(4) Review Problem 4D (111) (Kindon’s Fence & Exclusive)

(a) Professor’s Comments: 

(i) What I Was Looking For: This was a very narrow question, asking students to discuss just the exclusive element of adverse possession.  You should have discussed whether the facts would be sufficient to show exclusivity with reference to the policies behind both that element and adverse possession in general.  I rewarded answers that stayed focused on exclusivity,that saw arguments for both parties and that used policy to resolve the problem.  This proved to be a very difficult question, in part because students had relatively little precedent to work with.  However, the students had 30 minutes, so the answers are longer than is usual for Question II Problems


I tried to be very clear about what you should discuss by highlighting the key disputes in the last paragraph of the question:  Should K’s construction of the fence covering a very small portion of the property be sufficient to retake the entire lot? If not, was G’s inspection enough to break exclusivity?  Almost no students spent very much time on these two questions.  When an exam question highlights particular disputed issues, take that as an instruction to discuss them.  

     (A) Fence:   If a court takes a strict view of adverse possession, then the fence would be enough to defeat exclusivity over the whole parcel.  You could note the case involving construction materials placed by the owner in support of this position.  However, it seems a bit unfair to allow the owner to retake a very large parcel by just using a little bit.  Suppose the parcel was not just a quarter of a square mile but ten or twenty square miles.  Could K retake by planting radishes in a three square foot garden?  At some point, you might say no.  This is particularly true because J has color of title and will be given more favorable treatment than a “squatter.”


You could support limiting K’s rights to the area he actually repossessed with reference to the policies behind the exclusive element and adverse possession.  Because the fence apparently did not interfere at all with J’s use of the rest of the land and did not call J’s presence to G’s attention, you could argue that K remains “asleep” with regard to the rest of the property and is not making beneficial use of it.  On the other hand, the ten-year statute of limitations means that K has to be asleep for ten full years to forfeit his interest, and so even though he began his beneficial use of the land very late, he did so within the deadline.

      (B) Inspection:  If the fence is not enough for K to reclaim the whole lot, I’d argue that the inspection is not either.  Breaking exclusivity should require some assertion of ownership; merely inspecting the lot without taking steps to either use the land or to evict the adverse possessor (in a timely way) doesn’t seem to qualify.  I think this would be clearer if the inspection took place five years into the ten-year period.  If all K had done was wander around and note J’s presence, and then done nothing else for five years, I think the court would say he had slept on his rights.

      (C) Other Issues:  
· Agency:  Many students discussed whether activities of G and the fence workers can be properly attributed to K.  I don’t think there is any reason why an owner can’t use agents to reclaim his land, but we didn’t really cover anything that clearly said so one way or the other, so I gave credit for sensible discussion of this question. 

· Outsiders: Regular use of the land in question by third parties can defeat adverse possession, but there is no evidence of that here.   

· Statutory Language: The precise terms of the adverse possession statute might affect the result here.  However, the only statutory language that we studied that might be relevant to exclusivity is the requirement in Penn. and Cal. that the owner make the legal claim within a year of there-entry. That requirement was met here.  
   (ii) Common Problems: 

      (A) Discussing Issues Outside the Scope of the Question:  Many students discussed other elements or legal issues besides exclusivity (e.g., actual, open & notorious, disabilities).  You lost credit for ignoring what you were asked to do.  If you feel like you don’t have enough to say in response to the question, reread the question, look for facts you haven’t discussed and look for policy or theory arguments to bolster what you’ve already done.  Don’t start discussing other issues.  

(B) Misunderstanding Exclusivity:  A number of students discussed concerns that are really not part of the exclusivity analysis.  The acts of the adverse possessor are not at issue at all.  There is no requirement in any of the course materials that the owner’s re-entry be sufficient to give notice to the adverse possessor; if you want to argue that notice should matter, you need to explain why.  Similarly, if you want to apply the same standards for sufficient use should to the owner as to the adverse possessor, you need to make clear that you are working by analogy and, ideally, explain why it’s a good idea.  The first model answer does this pretty well.

      (C) Relationship Between Rules and Policy:  A court is unlikely to take seriously a policy argument that flatly contradicts an applicable legal rule.  For example, if the legislature has set the statute of limitations for adverse possession at 10 years, the court will not be comfortable with the notion that 9.7 years sufficiently satisfies the relevant policy concerns.  The legislature obviously believed otherwise.

(b) Student Answer #1: This contains some thoughtful discussion and uses cases and policy well.  Unlike most of the other answers that used some of the standards normally applicable to the adverse possessor, this student explicitly noted that it was applying the standards by analogy and gave some reason for doing so.
Adverse possession:  The idea behind the doctrine is to reward people making good use out of land, and to deny recovery for sleeping owners who are not doing so. Is a hybrid between statute and decisional law 

Exclusive:  The adverse possessor has to make a good showing that the land has not been entered by owner or others. Essentially, that he has been on the land without allowing anyone else to stake any sort of claim to it. Though in this case Kindon has the legal title, since John also believes he purchased the land from Ian, he is under the color of title. 

Technically, the legal owner has been away from the property for 9 years and 10 months, arguably close enough to the statutory limit to achieve the policy purposes underlying the doctrine, but it is understood that if the rightful owner returns, there is tolling, and here he (or his representative) returned before the statute of limitations had run. The court might reason that the actual owner himself still has not come onto the land. But under a broader construction Ginny (in the employ of the owner) would still qualify and then you would have to turn to what Ginny actually does on the land. 

Fence:  Typically, an enclosure is used to support an adverse possessor's position, but as the legal  owner seeks to use it here - the same basic principles should apply. With the enclosure, one seeking to mark off this property as their own. The fence should provide tangible proof to people passing by that the land belongs to someone for some intended purpose thereby keeping  what he wants in and keeping what wants out. In order for Kindon's fence to qualify as an enclosure for an adverse possessor, it must be substantial and it must actually take up the majority of the land. In  Van Valkenburgh, the court there gives the sense that any measures taken need to be influential. Again, this was with respect to the adverse possessor in that case - but the same could apply for the owner as it is all a function of establishing right to the property. Despite all of the measures that the adverse possessor in Van Valkenburgh took that would sort of give them impression that he owned the land (crops there, personal belongings, chicken coop, raising chickens, building a one-room house) etc. - the court did not find this to be substantial. Likewise being away from the property for nearly ten years, and then sending someone else to have fence built that does not take up the majority of the land in question seems to fail. 

Inspection:  Merely having Ginny show up there almost 10 years after John was there to inspect the land seems insufficient with regard to adverse possession. Looking over the property once and then failing to diligently report to the owner does not seem like a thorough undertaking of the land. The court is sometimes flexible with the amount of time that must be spent on the land given the nature and condition of it as it was in Howard where the court said it was OK to be at a summer home just during the summer. The adverse possessor in this case was able to keep the property, but once a year during the time he was capable of being there and once in 10 years when the facts don't give any explicit limits on when K could have visited the land seems insufficient. Perhaps because he lived out of state, he could say that it was a burden to return to the land more often - but when he decided to finally make use of the land, he employed a local resident and had her go there. Presumably, he could have done this much sooner. 

On a technicality, Kindon as the legal owner who had a rep set foot on the property and place a fence there could have a reasonable basis for the ejectment. But Van Valkenburgh and Howard give us tools to look at adverse possession and what is supposed to encourage and what it is supposed to dissuade. Abandoning the property, and allowing someone to come there, plant ' flowers on it for sale, make a living off of it for 10 years, and then to have someone else return to put up a fence and inspect once within two months of the statutes seems lacking. Most states require the action to be brought within 1 year of finding he AP on your land - at least Kindon did this right! 

(c) Student Answer #2:  This answer was solid overall, containing a fair number of useful points. 

G is K’s agent - she should be considered the title owner for purposes of discussion, since she is acting on his behalf. Reference to either refers to legal title holder. 

Exclusive v. public:  J did not share Sun-acre with the public in general, as is one possible way to fail the exclusivity element, such as a frequented path, or an area opened up for public enjoyment without charge. 

Exclusive v. K: Considering the general disfavor that courts have with adverse possession, the construction of the fence and subsequent inspection by G could suffice to constitute K using the property, thereby affording K the ability to file an ejectment action. In one case, the presence of some lumber stacked on the edge of a property for 3 weeks negated the entire tenure of someone trying to adversely possess a property, and the owner was able to reclaim the entire property, not merely the part used to stack the wood. That lumber was only temporarily on the land. The fence built by K is likely a more permanent structure, as K is considering using the land as a farm, and farms often do have permanent fences. 

Even in states like PA, where the owner must file the ejectment action within a reasonable period of discovering the possession (often 1 year), K would have met that burden, since G learned of the J's possession in September, and K filed his action less than one month later. 


On the other hand, even if K filed his action in a timely manner after discovering J's use, the statute of limitations has passed before that action was filed. More importantly, the entire impetus behind adverse possession is to reward the optimal and fullest possible use of the land, and to discourage the "sleeping owner". In this case, J was using the land in a productive manner, and K had done absolutely nothing with it for over 9 3/4 years. Finally, the geographic separation excuse for not visiting likely is not very strong, since K had the ability to use G as his agent recently, and there is no evidence to show that K couldn't have similarly used an agent to  check the land on his behalf prior to the last month of the statute of limitations. 

Color of title:  J believed he had legal rights to the land. J believes in good faith that he is the owner, and he was not a conscientious interloper on someone else's property in his mind. Consistent with that manner for his business. No facts explicitly denote a deed was conveyed to J, but due the statute of frauds requirements for a signed document, and the facts that Ian conveyed interest in the property to both J and K, it can be inferred that J was relying on a document to bolster his belief that the land is his. Since J has good faith and a document purporting to convey ownership, but which actually doesn't, the state may afford him some leniency in his adverse possession claim. For example, one such concession is to abbreviate the statute of limitations. If the relevant state statute of limitations is 10 years, it may be the case that the state provides for a shorter period if the adverse possessor has color of title. John likely would prevail. 
 (5) Review Problem 4E (S111) (Dolly’s Daffodils & Exclusive)

deals with two different concerns.  The one at issue in Bell—using the land to the exclusion of the general public—was not really raised here (see below).  Instead, you needed to focus on using the land to the exclusion of the original owner.  Because none of our primary cases dealt with this aspect of exclusivity, this problem required you to think about the policies behind the exclusive element and how they relate to this particular set of facts.  On the exam, I rewarded students who made arguments for both sides, who saw the legal relevance of more of the facts, who used the underlying policies to address the problem, and who were particularly creative.  Some highlights of relevant legal analysis:
(i) Literal/Minimal Use Argument:  The exam answers should have noted that, because D used to land briefly during the adverse possession period, N’s use was not literally exclusive and some jurisdictions might find for D on this point alone. In this context, quite a few 2007 students usefully noted the New York case where three weeks storage of construction materials was enough to defeat exclusivity.   For the 2014 class discussion and critiques, I asked you to assume the state had rejected the literal argument, so the New York case that appears to rely on the literal argument was not especially helpful.


(ii) In/Sufficient Assertion of Owner’s Rights/Sleeping Owner:  D only visited the property once in 15 years and only planted a few flowers.  In jurisdictions unpersuaded by the literal argument, you’d need to discuss whether her activities were sufficient to show that she was asserting ownership and that she should not be viewed as a “sleeping owner.”  Some considerations raised by students: 



(A)  Size of Strip v. Size of Parcel:  Presumably D’s case is stronger the greater the portion of the lot she planted.  The phrase “landscape the grounds” suggests that the lot is large and 2’ x 15’ is thus a relatively small strip. In this context, some of you usefully noted the overhanging eaves case from Calif., where a small encroachment by the owner was insufficient to retake the entire lot. 



(B) Bulbs & Summer Home.  The flowers grown from bulbs reappear and bloom every spring, so arguably reassert D’s claim every time they reappear.  On the other hand, N only has to use the summer home in the summer to adversely possess it successfully.  You could usefully discuss whether D’s assertion of ownership should count when neither the planting nor the blooming occurred during the summer when N (or an ordinary owner) would be present.   (See also discussion of notice in (iii) (C) below.  


(C) Lack of Entry into House:  Some students reasonably argued that D’s failure to go into the house should count against her for two reasons.  First, entry into the house would be a more substantial assertion of ownership than merely digging up a small strip on the perimeter.  Second, entry into the house probably would have given D notice that N had been using the property and so she didn’t really monitor the lot very thoroughly.  



(D) D’s Schedule & Planning:  Remember that we are trying to punish OOs who don’t care for their land.  D’s busy schedule is not an excuse; presumably she could hire someone to monitor the property periodically.  Similarly, her planning is irrelevant unless it translates into actual activities on the lot.  An OO can’t show she is not “asleep” by dreaming about her lot.

(iii) Relationship to Other Legal Rules



(A) Penn./Calif. Statutes:  One issue I was looking for that nobody raised in the exam answers (kudos to Hoffman 2014) was the possibility that the jurisdiction had a statute like those in Pennsylvania & California that requires that an owner raise this type of entry as a defense within one year.  If Salsburg has such a statute, D would lose.  



(B) Color of Title (CoT):  The problem says N has color of title.  This has three possible consequences here: 

1) In some states, CoT reduces some of the other requirements.  This might be true of exclusivity in Salsburg.

2) CoT creates constructive adverse possession of the whole lot.  By analogy, it might mean that D can only recover the portions of the lot she actually uses.

3) CoT reduces the statute of limitations in some jurisdictions. I gave a little credit for noting this.  However, the problem says that “the relevant limitations period … is 12 years,” which would mean that, even with CoT, N must meet the elements for 12 years.


(C) Relationship between Requirements for APor and Requirements for Owner:  

· Because D is the legal owner, to break exclusivity, she is not required to meet the requirements states impose on the APor.  E.g., she doesn’t herself have to demonstrate “exclusivity” or that her actions would be sufficient to meet the “actual use” or “open and notorious” requirements. Thus if you refer to these standards in your analysis, you need to explain why they’re relevant here.  

· “Ordinary owner” standard is used to see if APor has used the lot sufficiently, not to judge the behavior of the legal owner for the purposes of exclusivity.  Almost by definition, the legal owner in an AP case is not behaving like an “ordinary” owner because s/he is absent for years.  However, APor still has to meet all elements, including “exclusive.”

· Many students suggested here that it was important to determine if N had notice of D’s activities.  I gave more credit on the test for this idea where the student told me why notice should matter.  The two best reasons I saw were (i) notice might destroy N’s good faith belief in her color of title; and (ii) notice of activity would give N an opportunity to assert possession vis-à-vis intruders or the public (as described in Bell). 


(D) Bell Concerns: Exclusion of Public/Exercising Control over Entry:  

1) No facts in the problem suggested that anyone other than D and N used the lot during the relevant period, so D would have no basis to claim that exclusivity was broken by use by the general public or other 3d parties.

2) Some 2014 students suggested that the mere fact that D was able to enter and plant flowers meant that N had insufficiently excercised “exclusive control.” Two serious concerns:

(a) Nothing we read suggests that the APor has to be able to exclude any possible trespassers entirely.  That is significantly more than we expect of ordinary owners.  Should N have to erect walls with alarms or hire a full-timer caretaker?

(b) We allow APors of seasonal property to be completely absent in the off-season, so it would be particularly odd to insist they maintain complete control over trespass during that time.
(b) Student Answer #1:  [This was the strongest response, with good attention to the facts and strong arguments for each side. I particularly liked raising and rejecting the argument from Ray and providing a reason that notice to N might matter.]   N had good faith color of title, which may change some elements of AP depending on the jurisdictional rules.  If the juris. makes other elements easier to meet when adverse possessors have color of title, and if exclusivity is one of those elements, then N might win regardless of D's 1999 visit. 

If the juris does not recognize those rules however, then the question is whether N's visit in 1999 was sufficient use of the property to defeat the exclusivity requirement.  While she visited, she planted flowers, which seems to be like sufficient use as it is cultivation.  Furthermore, the flowers sprouted and continued to grow year after year, which almost seems like it is a symbol of D's presence on the property.  D had more flowers with her, which shows that she intended to do more with the flowers, but was called away to work and could not.  


N will likely argue that the flowers she planted were only on one small strip of the property, and that her intent to grow more flowers did not matter because she did not actually do it.  D can try to defeat this claim based on a case like Ray, where a court recognized that the possessor was doing the best he could in use of the property.  This is a weak claim on D's part because Ray was decided in favor of the adverse possessor and the court recognized that the he was doing the best he could because he was a member of the U.S. military.  A court probably will not feel the same sympathy for an attorney as they did for someone who is serving their country.  


D's strongest claim will be that the property was hers to begin with, and she entered the property and used it to plant flowers.  In many jurisdictions, this will be sufficient to defeat adversity, especially considering that some jurisdictions regard even the owner using the property to store construction materials as sufficient for defeating exclusivity.  


N will probably counter with the short amount of time that D was on the property when she was even there.  This is a difference from the construction materials case because if D had used the property for longer, it might have put N on notice that she was not the rightful owner and thus destroyed her good faith and caused her to inquire about the property she supposedly owned.  D can say that she planted flowers while there that came back year after year, so really she was "using" the property from 1999 - 2007 when the claim began.  D can also inquire as to why N did not notice the flowers, or if she did notice them, why did she not wonder where they came from?


In the end, if the purpose of the exclusivity requirement is really to ensure that the possessor and owner are not sharing use of the property, then D probably will not be able to defeat N's adverse possession claim beecause planting a row of flowers is not really sharing the property.  Furthermore, because one of the purposes of adverse possession is to punish the sleeping owner, a court is very likely to side with N because D certainly could have made more efforts to visit the property and inspect it.  Even if she was very busy, if her law practice was so very successful, she surely could have paid somebody to come inspect her property for her.  

(c) Student Answer #2: [This is a solid two-sided answer with a good understanding of what’s at issue. I particularly liked the creative use of facts.] For exclusivity, D must not have asserted her right to ownership of the parcel. Diff. jurisd. have differing rules on what degree of use by the owner constitues breaking exclusivity. However, one NY case found that an owner storing materials for 3 weeks on the parcel broke exclusivity. Thus, minimal use by owner will sometimes break exclusivity and restart SoL. 

The extent of D's use was going to the land one time and planting a 15' by 2' row of flowers. It is unclear how big the lot is. If the lot is big, then planting a small strip of flowers is not a use of much extent. However, if lot is small, could be a big use. An argument that the use was more than just planting flowers is that the flowers grew every spring after that. This could mean that, while the D was actually only there once, her presence was felt every year. An argument that D did not assert ownership is that the type of flowers she planted were common flowers. If she had planted the dahlias, which I believe are rarer, then she would have asserted her ownership.

Another missing fact is how far D lives from the parcel. If D lives far, then it is unreasonable to say that she could have done any better than going to the land once, especially b/c she has her own law practice. However, if she lived close, D would be expected to do more to assert her ownership. In Ray, the AP did the best he could to prevent continuity from being broken. If a court would use that standard here, then it is possible that D did the best she could under the circumstances. However, a fact that hurts even if she does not live far away from the land is that when she visited, she only planted flowers. Who would travel a long distance only to plant flowers, then leave when she was beeped.


A court will probably say that just going to the property one time was not enough to assert ownership. However, if the court is as generous as the NY court w/ the owner storing materials was, then planting flowers might break exlusivity.

(d) Student Answer #3: [This answer sees a lot of different kinds of arguments.  I liked the use of policy, the use of Bell and the use of D’s being a lawyer.] Dolly only went to the property one time in the 15 years Nicole was there, and she only used a small portion of the property.  Does an actual owner have to use all of the property or a substantial part of the property in order to break the exclusivity element?
Courts want to encourage the active use of land and allowing an owner that took one step on the property once every 8 or 9 years would not achieve this goal.  If someone is using the property, and would turn others away than they should be awarded for this exclusive use.  Nicole has likely achieved every other aspect of AP and we want to reward her for her use of the land to promote the economy and to keep property values high.  Dolly should have visited the premises or sent someone to look over the land for her, especially since in her profession she knew that AP is something that could happen if she didn't.  


In Bell, many other families used the premisis for camping and boating and when he was asked he said he did not turn these people out and knew of them.  It was found that he did not have exclusive use, because others were there and a nomal owner would turn these people away.  Nicole probably did not know of Dolly's presence at all.  Nicole was not around during the spring and therefore probably did not see the flowers blooming, did not meet or have notice of Dolly when she did come onto the property the one time and would have likely turned her off if she had.   
Dolly did not send anyone to the property or put up signs to keep others out.  I dont think the court would find her one appearance where she only used a small strip of land enough to break exclusivity if Nicole was compliant to all other aspects of AP.  AP is used to punish a sleeping owner, and Dolly was definitely sleeping in her ownership.  She only showed up 3 times in a 17 year span, once not even noticing there was another person using the land.  Also  by only coming onto a small strip for a small period of time (she did not use the house and therfore was most likely not even there for  a full night), Dolly did not achieve a break in Nicole's exclusive use of the main parts of the property.  


On the other hand, AP should be heavily regulated and we do not want to allow the taking of land to happen except in the most extreme situations.  Dolly did visit the land as much as she was able and technically, Nicole did not have exclusive use because Dolly was present once during the SOL.  Also, Dolly's flowers continued to bloom.  Since they were  living things on the property placed by the actual owner, that reappeared every year for eight years, this is a good argument for Dolly that she was using the property.  If she wasn't able to actually see the flowers and enjoy their beauty, they were still there and they were hers.  It goes back to the old saying: if a tree falls and nobody hears it, did it still make a sound?  Obviously it did.  Just because Nicole was not able to see her use, she still technically used the property and this should be enough to break Nicole's exclusivity.  

 (6) Review Problem 4F (S112) (Exclusivity: Masha and her Mutt)

This is 2014 Problem 2A. Comments & Best Answers Available with the 2014 Exam on the Course Page.
(7) Review Problem 4G (S113) (David’s Hillside & Continuous)

(a) Professor’s Comments:  I was looking for two things: first a sense that continuous use varies with the normal or natural use of the property, which required some discussion of the proper use of hillsides.  Second a sense of how the purposes of Adverse Possession, and of the continuous requirement in particular, helped resolve the problem.  People who talked about giving notice to the owner or getting the most value from the parcel did well.

(b) Student Answer #1:  The "continuous" element of AP exists for many reasons and its definition is not a bright line rule.  It depends on the circumstances (standards).  [MF: this para. really is unhelpful]

Continuous use also a perfect way for owner to have notice.  We wouldn’t have a real sleeping owner in this case if owner visited the P every year for a couple of weeks while David wasn't in town.  Continuous use also has roots in one justification of AP.  That is, the efficient use of land and resources.  Someone working the land or using it 365 days a year is getting the full benefit of the land.  David isn't.  

On the other hand, courts have said that continuous really means "As suited to the property,"  so in some cases, using a shack as a fishing or camping shelter for every month during the season may be ok b/c that is what true owner would do.  For all we know, the hill is only really available to be used 30-40 days a year, usually during summer, because it is in Alaska and is covered with ice and snow for the remaining time.  I would like to speak to people who live there, find out what the hill could be used for, ask neighbors if they were aware of Dave (if so, then arguably so should have been the owner).

(c) Student Answer #2:  It does not appear that David will meet the continuous element of adverse possession, however, it is hard to ascertain what is an ordinary use of a hillside to constitute continuous.  In cases where the use is not literally continuous, however, the use was found to be continuous by the court, relying on the nature of the property.  In Howard, to use a summer home during the summers is not literally continuous, but it will meet the element.  The same is true of the ever present hunting cabin being used for hunting season type.  To meet the continuous standard, the courts usually look to how the property is ordinarily used, what is continuous for that property.

In the hypo, what would be a continuous use of a hill-side is harder to ascertain than a ski cabin, etc.  I don't know what a continuous standard of a hillside would be exactly, but I would gather it would not be met.  Maybe this continuous element means a regularity so notice could be received.  30-40 days of the year, sometimes on the weekend, sometimes not; sometimes during the summer, sometimes not; does not seem to give anyone a feeling of continuous use or regularity.  The owner of this hill could sit and read Bentham 320 days of the year the days when concerts are not being held and wouldn't even know of the lighting use.  (The enclosure doesn't matter in this element).  Even thought it is hard to spell out what an ordinary person would categorize as continuous use of a hill, I don't think this condition is met.  It is sporadic and would not notify an owner.
(8) Review Problem 4H (S113) (Did Maimed Monica Maintain Continuity?)

(a) Professor’s Comments:  This problem asked you to discuss when/whether a long involuntary absence from a residence should break the continuity requirement.  The best exam answers had well-developed two-sided discussion of some of the topics discussed below. As with the other short exam problems, many students hurt themselves by providing one-sided answers, talking about issues beyond the scope of the problem, and providing conclusory arguments.  

(i) Legal Analysis:  For purposes of the 2014 class discussion and critiques, I divided the problem into three questions, which are discussed in turn below, preceded by a section on possible use of AP policies:

A.  Adverse Possession Policies: The continuity element serves several AP policies.  A possessor who is continually using the property demonstrates the kind of beneficial use that we might want to reward and is probably building up the sorts of emotional connections that we don’t want to sever.  In addition, continuity ensures that if the true owners show up at any point in the AP period, they will receive notice of the adverse claim.  Thus, we might enforce continuity strictly to ensure that the owners we punish are really sleeping.   In this case, the first two policies probably favor M because she seems to have done nearly the best she could under the circumstances.  The notice question is a bit more difficult because of the relative lack of activity on the property during the key five months.  You might have used these policies to address a number of different aspects of this problem.  See, e.g., discussion below of whether M’s instructions to D should count in her favor.
B. Should a Five-Month Interruption in Residence for a Medical Emergency Break Continuity? 

1. Legal Standards Generally:  The reference in the casebook at P114 to some states “literally” interpreting continuous is referring to states that do not accept seasonal use. No state requires an adverse possessor to be on the property 24/7 or even every day.  Tests for what kinds of interruptions are acceptable include “no significant interruption,” and ordinary owner (which are discussed below) as well as the Pennsylvania “not unreasonable” test noted in the supplement. Some 2014 students suggested M’s interruption was acceptable because she used her “best efforts” to meet the requirement and that she always had the “intent to return.” On a test, you’d want to defend that these are relevant considerations; they don’t necessarily flow from the legal tests listed here.

2.  Significant Interruption:  In many states, continuity is broken if there is a “significant interruption” in the period of possession.  Is this five month absence a significant interruption? As some students have pointed out, five months is less than 5% of the ten-year period, so perhaps it should not be considered significant if it was the only interruption.  You could usefully discuss whether a court should take into account M’s medical condition when assessing “significant.”  A court might be reluctant to rule in a way that would force people in M’s position to undergo the enormous expense of at-home care rather than taking advantage of the much cheaper family option.

3.  Use Like Ordinary Owner:  Was this normal use of a person’s primary residence?  It might well be normal for a person living alone who has a serious injury.  She may not be able to do her rehab if she moves back into her house by herself.  Her handling of utilities and mail also seems consistent with somebody who is going to be away for a while and doesn’t want to pay for electricity or attract burglars with piles of mail.  Similarly having someone check on the house regularly looks like what a normal owner would do. On the other hand, the use is probably not normal use for someone without the injury.  Full-time residences normally don’t sit dark and empty for five months at a time. As one student pointed out, if this was an area where seasonal use was common, the five months away would look much less problematic.


4. Mischaracterizing D’s Role:  Quite a few critiques discussed whether M could claim that there was not really a five-month interruption by “tacking” D’s “possession” onto her own.  However, tacking is only appropriate when different people are consecutively in possession of the claimed land. Here, D has not taken possession of the lot or acted like an owner at all; he simply is carrying out some limited tasks on M’s behalf.  Similarly, when M gives D a key, she is not turning over possession or property rights to him any more than I am when I give a key to my cleaning service.  Because D is not an adverse possessor himself, the supposed question of privity that many of you discussed is irrelevant.


Relatedly, several 2010 students suggested that D’s presence on the land defeated continuity/exclusivity.  That is incorrect.  He is not a stranger or the OO, but someone there with M’s permission in a way that is consistent with M’s ownership.  
C.  Assuming Five Months with no Evidence of Possession Would Be Too Long, Was There Enough Evidence of Possession During the Five Months M Was Away to Retain Continuity? (Ray Analysis): 


1. Legal Claim Generally: Under Ray, the APor can maintain continuity even if not in residence if she leaves sufficient evidence of continued presence and control to alert an OO of her claim.  Here, M will claim that she has done this.  Note that the relevant evidence doesn’t have to be on the exterior of the building.  When OOs check up on land they own, they must look at all of it, including inside the residence.  

2. Specific Evidence
· Electricity: People regularly shut off power when they leave seasonal vacation houses in the off-season, but here it is probably a bad fact for M.  Although it might be sensible for her to avoid paying utility bills, an OO would see no lights in the house at night (very unusual for a suburban residence) and, upon entering the house, could well assume the house has been abandoned.  The fact is even worse for M if the 5 months includes either a harsh winter (where unheated pipes freeze and burst) or a hot, humid summer (where possessions quickly mildew without A/C).  In the dry heat of a Las Vegas summer, the furniture would be preserved like an Egyptian sarcophagus, but the cat (that M thinks is staying in the house) would roast.  However, this fact does not conclusively resolve the case, particularly if the climate is temperate and fairly dry, if there is other notice to the OO of M’s continued claim.  
· Mail: Today, I don’t think stopping mail service is especially significant.  Ordinary suburban residents don’t leave mail piling up in their mailboxes or foyers when they go away for a while.  Either they’d have someone pick it up or they’d have it held or rerouted (easy to do online).  Thus, an OO wouldn’t expect to see mail as evidence of a current claim. 
· Furniture:  If an OO arrives to find a house full of unrecognizable furniture and personal belongings, she should probably have a clue that someone else believed they had rights to the house at some point.  Whether the stuff in the house more strongly suggests the claim is current or abandoned depends on more detailed information.  E.g., Is the house dusty/musty or recently cleaned?  Are there clothes in closets & drawers or has M taken those to her parents’ house?  Is there food in the refrigerator or freezer or pantry with an expiration date from this century? Is this a neighborhood where foreclosure and abandonment are relatively frequent?  
· Watered Plants: Whether watering the plants significantly adds to the notice provided to the OO depends on at least three variables: the type of plants, whether they are indoors or outdoors, and the local weather during the relevant period.  Watering inside plants generally gives better notice of the claimant’s continued presence, particularly if you are in a place where it rains a lot anyway.  However, healthy vibrant roses outdoors in Arizona or Nevada would also be strong notice/
D. What is the Legal Significance of D not Doing what M Asked?


1. What a Difference a Cat Makes:  If D had done as he was asked, an OO would probably find a healthy cat living in the house with evidence of recent fresh water and food and a freshly cleaned litter box.  That’s awfully good evidence that a claim is current. Even if the cat had a way to get in and out by itself, fresh food and water is pretty telling. 

2.  Should it matter that D did not follow M’s directions?  It depends on which policy you see as crucial here.  If you think what is important is M’s attempt to behave like an owner, then it shouldn’t matter whether D did her bidding or not; she did the best she could (assuming she is unaware of D’s failure). However, if you think notice to the OO is the key concern, than her intent is irrelevant. The only question would be what evidence was left on the property.  Watering may simply be insufficient to provide notice.  A couple of students suggested that, if she wanted to ensure that her AP claim stayed alive, M should have checked up on D.  However, M has got good faith color of title, which meansd she was not aware she was adversely possessing until later (or she’d lose her good faith).

 (ii) Common Problems

A. My Short Problems Are Hard to Resolve:  Don’t look for ways to make them easy to answer; they aren’t.  In this problem, M seems to have done reasonably well under the circumstances at trying to care for the house, but, in part because of D’s actions, she hasn’t actually provided a lot of notice to the OO of a continuing claim to the house. The difficulty of deciding what to do in these circumstances plays out in some sub-issues here as well.  For example, is 5 months a significant interruption?  Quite plausible that an ordinary owner in M’s circumstances would need to spend that much time away. However, not what happens in ordinary circumstances.  Moreover, even with M’s stuff still in the house, after five months OO may reasonably conclude she has abandoned house.  (See also discussion above of D not following instructions),

B. Exam Answers Presenting All of One Side, Then All of Another.  This type of organization has the virtue of ensuring some arguments for each position, but removes the opportunity to try to resolve any individual issue by discussing whose position is strongest.  The first model and my analysis above are examples of working back and forth under a single topic.  The second model is the best example of one-side-then-the-other, but would be improved by directly discussing, e.g., which argument about utilities is strongest.

 C. The Significance of Facts Often Depends on Context:  Some arguments overrstated the significance of particular facts by suggesting the facts conclusively resolved the case when they didn’t.  Others understated the significance of particular facts, dismissing them as irrelevant or unhelpful, where they might be used to partly support one side’s claims.  Try to imagine contexts in which the facts might be more or less significant.  Don’t focus on whether one fact “proves” or “doesn’t prove” a particular result.  Instead, ask if the fact might be useful evidence because it tends to support (at least a little bit) the position of one side or another. 
D. M’s Injury as a “Disability”:  Some 2010 students argued that M might be given the benefit of the doubt because the court might view this as a disability issue.  You need to be careful how you frame this argument.  “Disability” statutes regarding adverse possession work to protect owners with disabilities, not adverse possessors.  However, a court might well decide that it was the equivalent of disability discrimination to construe the requirement strictly against M under these circumstances.

(d) Model Answers:  The 1st answer is strongest; it has nice back-and-forth discussions of several issues. The 2d model has a nice set of strong points for each side.  Both have some useful quick policy at the end.  The 3d model is completely one-sided, but made very strong arguments, including a clever point about the significance of the key.

(i) Student Answer #1:  The important thing about meeting the continuity element of AP is that it must be in accordance of what a “true owner” would do and how they would use property.  Here, Monica was injured and went to hospital.  That seems to be consistent with what true owner would do if he/she got injured.  She has lived there for 10 years and this is the only time she left for such a long period (5 years) because of accident.  On the other hand, after getting out of hospital she does not go straight home, but to her parents’ house.  It can be argued that some one who lives along and owns their own place would want to go back there and not stay with parents, but after all, she went for rehab, so it might be likely to be found consistent with action of true owner.

However, during the time she was away, she had utilities and mail service stopped.  This can be a little shady.  But it can be argued that a normal owner who goes on vacation to Europe or anyone else for 5 months would shut down utilities to save $ and prevent hazards and also cancel mail because it is just going to pick up and no one can get it.  Here, she could have sent some one to get her mail for her though.


That she told her friend to water plants and feed cat is consistent with true owner.  No true owner would leave cat behind and never intend to come back for it.  Maybe pets were not allowed at her parents’ house.  In addition, if David took the cat to his home and fed it there should not be held as a factor against her.  She told him to do something, but he did something else instead.  He watered plants every couple of weeks and maybe that was OK depending on plant type.


Depending on jurisdiction, she might win.  In Howard the court held that using the summer cottage only for a few months out of year is consistent with true nature of ownership.  However, he don’t have summer house, but a permanent residency.  But she is away because she got into accident not because she wanted to abandon.


In a jurisdiction like the one in Ray, the court found that the use of a summer cottage in abandoned town once a year was also consistent with true ownership. This was because they did some improvements and secured land, after all they saved property from being abandoned and vandalized.  Here we can assume she has also done some sort of improvements and secured premises.  Also she has lived there for 10 years so has been getting the benefit of full use of land.  That should provide notice to true owner if he exists that it is being continuously used. 
Her chances look good because she can argue she was forced to leave because of accident. Policy reasons of favoring utilization of land and “roots & reliance” will add sympathy to her claim.

(ii) Student Answer #2:  1.  Yes it is continuous.  As the court noted in Ray, the continuous element should be looked at in terms of how an ordinary owner would use the property.  It could be argued that if an ordinary owner had sustained similar injuries, she too would be hospitalized and live at her parents’ house because she was unable to care for herself.  This five month absence is not inconsistent with an ordinary owner’s use.

In addition, Monica did attempt, as an ordinary owner would, to maintain the property in her absence.  She had her friend David water the plants once every two or three weeks.  Having the mail stopped is also consistent with the actions of an ordinary owner.  If the mail were to continue to be delivered, it would have piled up, suggesting an owner’s absence and inviting intruders.


Also, during the five month period, if the owner had inspected the property, she would have seen that all of Monica’s belongings and furniture were in the house. Although she did not live there during the five months, she did maintain her residence there

2.  No, it is not continuous.  Monica’s five month absence should not be seen as continuous.  She abandoned the property for five months.  The utilities were shut off indicating her abandonment.  In addition, the cat was picked up by a friend, so if the owner were to inspect the property, there would have been no signs of life there.

Also, arguably her five month absence is not consistent with an ordinary owner’s use.  An ordinary owner would most likely have returned home after being hospitalized, and received rehab care there.  Monica abandoned the property, and chose to reside at her parents’ home rather than her own home.  Her intent to return would have been made clear if she had kept the utilities on.

Because the utilities were off and no one was at the property, for five months, a reasonable owner would not have known she was occupying the property if she was standing there.  In addition, the only activity on the property for the five months was the watering of the plants.  However, this small act is not enough.

3.   Policy.  The court will have a tendency to be sympathetic to Monica.  She was in a car accident and badly wounded.  The five months will be looked at with her serious injury in mind.
(iii) Student Answer #3:   The continuous element in AP goes toward proving A.Possessor acted like an owner would act.  During the 10 years, M was always living there except when she had the accident and then needed medical attention and rehabilitation.  Usually when an owner has a medical emergency and leaves for months because she is in the hospital or is helping to care for someone, she is not thought to have vacated.  Owners who are forced to leave abruptly or even who go on extended vacations tend to have someone housesit.  

Here, M had D enter the house with a key, water the plants and feed her cat.  The key shows she was trying to keep strangers out like most owners.  Feeding the plants and cat shows her intent to remain or return.  She did not give them away to D, D was just a temporary caretaker.  D’s actions have no bearing on her use as continuous because she did not tell him to take the cat with him and water the plants if he wanted.  He was supposed to take care of both so that they would be alive when she returned.  


Also, having mail and utility service stopped is not abnormal for an owner to do when they know they will be away for an extended period of time. To allow the mail to accumulate would allow other to know no one was home and usually that is not safe (burglaries).  Utilities may be expensive (why pay if not there) or could cause safety concerns / fire hazards when left unattended.  She acted as any ordinary reasonable owner would in her situation.  She satisfies continuous element of A.P.

 (9) Review Problem 4J (S116) (Border Mangroves & Open & Notorious)

(a) Professor’s Comments:  



(i) What I Was Looking For:  



(A) Application of Relevant Legal Tests:  States define O&N in terms of whether the particular use is “visible to someone standing on the surface of the land” or would put a reasonably prudent owner on notice.”  The easier arguments here are in favor of the adverse possessor:  Is a 15 foot strip of above-ground roots and trees visible?  Of course.  Should a reasonably prudent owner become aware of that much vegetation?  Probably.  The difficulty is really formulating arguments for the other side.  You might argue that:

· The growth was so slow that even a reasonably prudent owner might not notice

· Trees & roots in an already wooded area might not be different enough from what’s around them to serve as notice of an adverse possession claim

· The case should be treated as a boundary dispute (see below)
(B) Boundary Disputes:  If the state has separate rules for boundary disputes, a court is likely to apply them here.  You could have noted that some states require “actual knowledge” to meet O&N in boundary disputes.  You could also have noted that different policy considerations may apply to boundary dispute.  If you discuss this idea, you need to be clear on the difference between actual knowledge (as a factual matter, L knew the roots were growing on her side of the border) and ordinary “open and notorious” (really a legal question asking if facts give rise to Inquiry Notice).



(C) Marengo:  You might have discussed this case because it is the only one we covered that has an extensive discussion of O&N.  You could distinguish it easily because the roots and trees are above-ground.  However, you might argue that the policies behind the decision might apply here:  it might be unfair to require the owner to do surveys to establish the borderline in the face of a very slow-moving incursion.



(D) Policy Behind O&N:  You could usefully discuss whether L is the kind of sleeping owner that should be punished by losing her land.  Note that if you make policy arguments, you need to clearly connect them back to O&N, which is what the question asked you to address.


(ii) Common Problems:



(A) Not Sticking to Question:  Many students discussed elements other than O&N.  This hurts you in two ways.  First, you lose points for not following directions.  Second, you lose time you could be spending on the question I asked.


(B) Not Using Legal Tests Properly:  Many students need practice applying legal tests to facts.  If you do this properly, the language of the legal test should provide the structure for your subsequent discussion and you should regularly refer back to specific language and/or the test as a whole.  


(C) One-Sided Analysis:  About half the students who took the test decided there was a very clear winner here and almost all points they made supported that conclusion. (Interestingly, some of you thought J was a clear winner and others thought L was a clear winner.) Assume there are significant arguments for both parties and do your best to identify each side’s best points.


(D) Misusing Authority: Many students cited Lutz or Ray for discussions of O&N, even though neither case rules on this element.  You have to know what the cases say.
(b) Best Student Answers:  The original version of this question was a little harder than what I gave you; two proofreaders and I all missed that not everyone would know that mangroves have roots above the ground.  As a result, some answers assumed below-ground roots, some assumed above ground roots, and some discussed both possibilities.  Interestingly, the quality of the answers seemed not to depend on which assumption the student employed, although I tried to be a little generous to the below-ground folks.  As it turns out, one of the best answers (the second model) was one of these. Both model answers are quite good. 

(i) STUDENT ANSWER #1:  Open and Notorious: Is it visible and can someone tell that the land is being used?  If the roots underground, this would probably not satisfy the open and notorious requirement of AP because then Leslie could not have seen the roots. (Marengo)


Assuming roots are on top of the ground, the common test is visibility on surface of land.  Leslie saw that the roots are on top of ground and she saw Jenn watering them and spraying them with fertilizers and insecticides, so she also should have known that there since they were close to the property line they would encroach on her property.  However, Leslie could argue that Jennifer always stood on her own side and never came over on Leslie's side to water them.  If in Florida, this would probably not be sufficient to put Leslie (assuming she has ordinary prudence) on notice of fact that Jennifer was claiming land as her own.  


However, some states require that there must be forms of notice to the community such as possessor's reputation as owner.  It would seem here that Leslie reputation as possessor could be upheld if she did not know that these mangrove trees were fast growing and that they would spread out.  However, Jennifer could say that Leslie should have known where her property boundaries were and should have said to Jennifer to cut them down or she would have cut them down herself.  However, they both never trimmed the hedges.  


Also, policy favors Jennifer getting the land because the benefit of AP is the full utilization of the land and Jennifer is fully utilizing land by letting her roots grow onto Leslie's property.  Because Leslie should have been aware that these roots were encroaching on property and that they were in fact rapidly growing.  Leslie could plainly see, especially because she has an extensive lawn with many trees and shrubs, and she is probably the care taker of the lawn, that Jennifer trees roots were encroaching and this would satisfy the open and  notorious element.

(ii) STUDENT ANSWER #2:  The focus of open and notorious (O&N) is "can someone tell land is being used?"  The common test is whether use by possessor visible to one on surface of possessed land.  I would argue that O&N is satisfied because after planting them she was out in the open watering and spraying them.  She acted as true owner of trees visible to people.  She knew roots spread from original location and Leslie with her extensive lawn, with many trees and shrubs knew or should've known (with reasonable inquiry) that roots of mangroves extend far away from tree visible above ground.   Marengo Caves held that the statute of limitation does not begin to run until the injured party discovers or should with reasonable diligence have discovered, the facts constituting the injury.  Here, Leslie could see the trees (unlike caves in Marengo) and should have determined if roots (like caves) would have extended to her property.  Therefore, the defendant therefore is fulfilled because she should have had knowledge of roots.


However, Leslie would argue that J may have watered and sprayed trees she always did so from her own property, she was never openly and notoriously using the property to take care of the trees.  She would also disagree with J that the roots are unlike caves, by pointing out that they are hidden underground like the caves, and the trees (like the opening to the caves) is not on her property.  Just as Ross wasn't required to determine if opening the caves led underground to his property, L should not be required to assume or determine that the tree has roots extending underground onto her property.  And as for knowledge of extending roots because of extensive lawn many trees, maybe L has a gardener and knows nothing about trees!  (Courts like to protect innocent, unknowing people!)  So L would say didn't know, wasn't visible, so no O & N!
(10) Review Problem 4K (5116-17) (Opinion/Dissent: Border Dispute Rules)

This is Sample Opinion/Dissent Question 3T.  Comments & Best Answers Available with the Opinion/Dissent Qs on the Course Page 
(11) Review Problem 4L (S58) (Lawyering: Carlos’s Fence)

This is Part (b) of Sample Lawyering Question 1S. Comments & Best Answers Available with the Lawyering Qs on the Course Page.
 (12) Review Problem 4M (S119) (Lawyering: Adverse Possession of Jewel Mine)

This is  Spring 2014 Q1(b). Comments & Best Answers Available with the 2014 Exam on the Course Page.

(13) Review Problem 4N (S120-21) 
(Issue-Spotter: Summer Camp & Underground Pizza)

The A.P. issues here were half of an old issue-spotting question also involving wills

Professor’s Comments: (A) Common exam technique problems:  

· Identifying and Emphasizing Contested Issues:  On a one-hour issue-spotter, you should expect to find at least three or four major clusters of issues that have strong arguments for both parties and to spend most of your answer on these issues.  Some tips:
· If you are not seeing several contested issues, reread the problem.
· Assume that if I give you a lot of relevant facts, the issue will be strongly contested (e.g., undue influence & capacity).
· Assume that if a cause of action has multiple factors or elements (as with adverse possession), some of these will be contested and some not.  Don’t spend much time on uncontested elements.
· If you sometimes have trouble seeing the best arguments for each side, don’t begin your analysis of an issue by announcing a conclusion.  Doing so makes it less likely you will look for arguments that undercut your announced conclusion.
· Organizing Your Answer:  Where you see several causes of action (as under wills) or several elements (as with AP) that you discuss them one at a time.  Many students discussed facts in the order I presented them without clearly delineating where they fit into the legal analysis.
· Use Common Sense:  I don’t mind if you raise unlikely possibilities on exams, but try to recognize reasonable inferences from the information you have.  E.g., Barracks painted with camouflage paint will not become invisible to a person standing near them. 

· Read Carefully:  I understand time was tight, but many students made multiple arguments that seemed to be based on misreading the problem.  E.g.,  

· Many students argued AA’s fence could be an enclosure.  The problem says it ran along only one side of the lot, so, by itself, it didn’t enclose anything.

· Some students discussed whether FFF had created a prescriptive easement underground, but (i) FFF was running a business in the space, not simply crossing it, (ii) would not be seeking an easement because that would concede that MM actually owned the factory, and, most importantly, (iii) the instructions asked you to discuss who owned the land, not whether there were easements.

· Finally, although this didn’t matter substantively, many students identified the doctor as male although the problem is quite clear that Angelica is a woman.

(B) Adverse Possession Issues: What I Was Looking For


1.  Disability:  We only touched on this briefly and didn’t cover the administrative details, but some states won’t allow the AP clock to run in some circumstances if the true owner is out of the country or serving in the military.  I gave a little bit of credit to students who noted that these rules might apply to MM.  (See third model).


2.  AP by AA:  



a. Continuous/Seasonal Use:  While the camp was in session, AA was running a business and she and the girls were openly living on the land.  While the camp was out of session, AA left very little to show her claim.  Thus, the crucial issue here is whether this was an appropriate seasonal use of the property.  The relevant legal test is whether the use was typical of an ordinary owner of similar property.  Although it is certainly not crazy to run a summer camp on a wooded lot, I was looking for some further discussion. You might, e.g., have compared the lot to what was done on Southacre or discussed whether the lot would be usable in the winter under local weather conditions.  The first model does a nice job with this.  Note that, if a court considers this appropriate seasonal use, AA doesn’t have to meet the AP elements during the off-season.



b. Sufficient Activity if Not Considered Seasonal Use:  AAA can point to the fence and the repainted barracks and perhaps to notoriety as the owner among the neighbors.  Less going on in the off-season than was true in Ray.  Solid discussions of this in second and third models.



c.  Color of Title:  AA has color of title from the will.  However, in order to rely on color of title, the APor must have good faith belief in its validity.  Here, if a court finds that the will was invalid for fraud or even undue influence, it might well find that A cannot rely on it.  Note that good faith color of title meets the state of mind requirement in any jurisdiction.  Even those states that require “bad faith” only do so when there is no color of title.



d. Exclusive:  

· Several students incorrectly suggested that AA’s use wasn’t exclusive because of the campers.  Third parties who are paying the APor to be on the land are thre under her authority and do not interfere with exclusivity.  

· Other students suggested that the presence of the fence helped to establish exclusivity.  This is only true in a case like Bell in which it is necessary to distinguish the APor from the public at large.  Usually, we determine exclusivity by looking to see if the OO was using the property.  The presence of the fence will have no bearing on that issue.


3.  AP by FFF: FFF had good faith color of title (K has no reason to question the validity of the will) and so should get constructive adverse possession of the whole from sufficient use of a portion.  FFF’s activities on the surface seem a little thin to meet the elements of actual and continuous.  On the other hand, the underground factory is both an improvement and an operating business that the problem strongly suggests is continuous.  Thus, I thought the two issues worth extended discussion were:


a. Open & Notorious: As I told you when I introduced Marengo Caves many commentators think the case is wrongly decided, so a court outside Indiana might simply reject it.  Moreover, the facts here might be distinguishable for a variety of reasons:  Someone standing on the surface might be able to hear or smell the factory or see lots of workers entering or exiting nearby.  FFF might have posted signs describing the factory, which might have achieved notoriety locally or even more widely because it is so unusual.  I strongly rewarded students who did not simply rely on Marengo Caves to support the proposition that underground uses can never support adverse possession. (Of the models, only the first really addresses this issue well)


b. Exclusive:  The public was using the surface, perhaps as much as FFF.  A court might decide this is irrelevant given the clearly exclusive use of the underground factory.  Even if we think the use of the surface must also be exclusive, the problem doesn’t make clear how much FFF is behaving like a true owner in its interactions with the public.  If, as in Bell, the public simply used the lot with no awareness of any claim by FFF, that doesn’t seem exclusive.  On the other hand, if FFF put up signs or otherwise indicated that it was an owner inviting the public to visit (e.g., “Welcome to the FFF Woods.  The public is welcome to use our woods, but please leave things as you find them”), then under Bell, that probably would be exclusive.

Student Answer #1: This answer probably contains the best analysis of the major issues, although it also contained a few more mistakes than the second model.  

Adverse Possession (AP): If the will is invalid, both DA and FFF can still possess the property if they meet all of the elements of AP.


AP by DA:  
Actual-->DA actually went onto and used the property which typically meets this element. She used it in a manner typical of a person in charge of a summer camp. However, some jurisdictions require enclosure, cultivation, improvements, and residency. DA built an enclosure and made improvements. MM can argue that the fence was not significant and that DA didn't build any structures besides the fence on the property. We don’t know how large the fence is, and what material it is made out of. However, If the fence covered the entire property line between Southacre and Northacre, it is possible to assume that the fence was lengthy, however we still have no evidence as to the height. In addition, the improvements themselves might not be significant, because she merely cleaned up and painted. In one case, the AP'er built a shack, and built a fence, and this still was not enough for AP. MM can also argue that there is no evidence that DA used the entire property. However, DA operated under color of title which may make this element easier to meet and allow constructive possession. 



Continuous-->DA can claim that her use was continuous with respect to a normal owner of the grounds.  That is, for a summer camp, she was there throughout the summer months every summer and was even there in the spring. However, MM can claim that when looking at what is the normal use of the land, that it was not continuous. This was a barracks and typically you expect an army barracks to be used year round. Even if there is a war going on it is not unreasonable to expect the barracks to be manned. Additionally, there are winter camps and it is not unreasonable for DA to use the land for something other than a summer camp. However, we do not know the temperature of the area and it may get too cold in the winter to house a camp. Therefore, the question is whether being gone for half the year is substantial. 50% of the time certainly seems like a substantial amount. The policies of the continuous element are to require use of the land we want to reward, punish the sleeping owner, and to provide notice to the original owner .The first purpose supports DA, however the second two support MM and if MM went there in the winter and saw an abandoned barracks she may not be aware of any AP claim. (Barracks could have been freshly deserted and appeared new). 


Exclusive-->No evidence that anyone other than DA used this property. However, the complex under Southacre lies under 30% of Southacre but also may lie under part of Northacre. If it does then there may be problems with the use being non-exclusive. 


Open and notorious-> A person standing on the surface of the land would be able to see that it was being used. In addition, a reasonably prudent person would be able to find out that it was being used through reputation and inquiry notice. 

FFF: 
Actual-->Met because Kevin used the land, built on the land, and cleaned the land. The only argument MM can make is that FFF only had the underground facility on 30% of the land and there were no enclosures, improvements, or cultivation on the rest. However, FFF did clean up and survey the lot. Also, color of title allows constructive possession in some jurisdictions.


Continuous-->There is no evidence that the underground was not used continuously throughout the year. However the woods were only cleaned every two months which might not provide the notice we want to give to the original owner.  Color of title might make it easier to meet this element.


Exclusive-->Potential problem here because MM can claim that people used the woods to hike and picnic. But there is evidence that FFF gives permission to these people and FFF does not have to prevent everyone from entering the land. 


Open and notorious-->Similar to the Marengo Caves case, there is an issue here becuase the facility is below the surface and due to cleaning the woods and the minimal impact on the surface there may be little to no evidence that there is an AP claim on the property. Under a view that open and notorious means that a person standing on the surface of the land could tell there was an AP claim, this element would probably not be met. However, this complex underground is huge and many people are constantly going in and out to work and for recreational activities. The reputation of the business and the constant influx and outflux of people could have created inquiry notice allowing a person of ordinary prudence to know there was an AP claim. [MAF: Good on O&N].

Hostile or adverse--> FFF simply needs to be hostile to the true owner and be on the true owner’s property without permission. FFF can still give permission to the other people to let them on and the color of title lends strength to FFF acting like they were the owner of Southacre. 

Student Answer #2: This answer had the fewest mistakes and is  just a little less strong on adverse possession than the third model.  

Adverse Possession:  If the will gets thrown out MM should get DC's bounty through intestacy (depending on state statute).  If she does, she can bring claims to eject Dr. A and FFF. 


A. Northacre (N/A) - Has Dr. A adversely possessed? Dr. A entered N/A under color of title, the will (although may be defective).  Thus if Dr. A succeeds on her a/p claim, she can constructively possess the lands where the fence and camp were not running.



Actual Use- Dr. A set up a summer camp, painted the barracks, put up a fence.  If the jurisd requires substantial improvements, tJhese acts may count toward actual use.  Moreover, she painted every three years.  A court may agree these acts seem consistent with what an owner of a summer camp would do, thus constituting actual use. 



Open and Notorious: Would a reasonable person from the surface of the land recognized that the land was being possessed?  As noted above, Dr. A had a camp running for a few months a year, had made improvements to the land including fences and painting.  Like Ray, this may be distinguished the campsite from the wildlife and nature surrounding.  However, unlike Ray, when Dr. A left she would take with her virtually all signs that a camp was there in the summer.  Unlike Ray, she did not have No Trespasser signs posted around when she wasn't there. Additionally, although she painted the barracks, she intended for them to blend into the woods.  Therefore, it may not have been easily recognizable.   Therefore, a court might find that her seasonal acts with complete absence and blending in with the woods for the other months may not be enough to put a reasonable owner on notice that the property was being a/p.  However, if Dr. A advertised her camp around town or on the internet, this may have been enough to be considered o/n.   


Continuous Use- Dr. A had a summer camp.  She was only on the land for the spring and summer seasons. Like Ray, this may be enough for continuous use because it would be consistent with the type of property claimed.  However, as noted above (O/N), her complete absence from the property with no other signs that she was going to return may not be enough to support her continuous use.  Ray maintained no trespasser signs in his absence, which helped the court in finding a continuous presence on the land.  


Exclusive:  Dr. A can most likely meet this element because no contact from the owner or the public that would break her possession of the land.  It is unclear if the 100 people/year on Southacre are also crossing her land.  Assuming they are not, Dr. A can probably prevail on this claim.  (See below for discussion on Exclusivity with public crossing).


Adverse/Hostile:  Dr. A has claim of right through her CofT.  She has no permission other than the will to be there, thus she would likely meet the adverse element.



Conclusion: Because a court would probably agree Dr. A met all of the elements and the statutory period of 10 years (its been 12 years), she likely has a successful claim of a/p.


B. Southacre (S/A) - Has FFF a/p? FFF also has color of title, so like Dr. A can constructively possess. (see above).


Actual-  It appears FFF allowed this land to grow wild.  However, KK did send people to clean up after hikers.  Thus, FFF has actual entry.  Additionally, FFF built a facility underground.  Thus, it has made a substantial improvement to the land, if that is what the jurisd requires.  


Open and Notorious-  The facility is underground, so it is unlikely a reasonable person would have known that the land was being used, absent some signs above ground.  It appears KK made sure the ground above was not disturbed.  Thus, MM has a good argument that FFF's use of S/A for an underground facility was not enough to put an ordinary owner on notice that his land was being occupied.  This is similar to Marengo Caves, where the owner did not realize his neighbor was bringing tour groups through caves under his own land (and the owner went on the tour!).  


Continuous:  Once the facility was built, it appears they continually used it.  Morever, KK had individuals routinely comb the land for trash.


Exclusive:  It appears FFF allowed the public to use S/A to cross and picnic.  Thus, the contact from the public may be enough to interrupt FFF's exclusive use of the property.  However, by analogy to Lyons in the prescriptive easement, a court may presume that the public's recreational use is presumed permissive.  Moreover, the dissent in Lyons notes that the public's recreational use of undeveloped land is presumed permissive.  Thus, FFF has a good claim that even though KK didn't eject the picnickers, a normal owner would have allowed the public some limited access for recreational use. [MAF: clever use of Lyons]



Adverse/Hostile:  FFF took the land under color of title, the deed.  FFF had no permission to be there.



Conclusion:  Accordingly, if the will gets set aside, MM can likely retake S/A because FFF will not likely meet the open and notorious element for a/p.  
 Student Answer #3: This answer is just a little stronger than the second model on adverse possession (and the only model to see the disability issue)..  
Dr. A's adverse possession of NorthAcre:  Assuming MM can be established as the legal owner of Northacre based on intestacy statutes,  Dr. A has used the land for over 10 years now and may bring a claim of adverse possession.  First does Dr. A have color of title, this is important because without color of title in most jurisdictions, Dr. A will only be able to gain the land she actually used through adverse possession.  The question is whether Dr. A has a title she could have reasonably relied upon.  With all the problems in the will, the fact she is educated, the fact she has her own lawyer, this may be questionable.  The will was so deficient that maybe a court would claim that Dr. A could not have reasonably relied on that title.  In the event she does not have color of title, MM would own all the land, without much litigation, that Dr. A has not used.  


Actual Use Requirement: Dr. A has painted property, built a fence along the property line and held a summer camp on the property every year.  Based on Ray, she is using this land as a seasonal occupant would.  The maintenance on the property may provide notice, even though she explicitly cleans the property as much as possible.  Dr. A has 'enclosed and/or improved the property'.  MM will argue that the enclosure of only one side of the property is not a full enclosure and thus does not meet the test put forth in Lutz.  Further, the improvements that Dr. A has made are minor, representing a coat of paint and fixing the property when it falls into disrepair.  Dr. A seems to have established something more important than a few chicken coops, however, and holds a regular camp with a substantial number of girls for two months of the year.  Even the best job that Dr. A can do of cleaning will likely leave some trace of use year round.  If nothing else, the campers may plant flowers or make some other manifestation of their presence.  Dr. A cleans the barracks, however, as if to leave no evidence of the camp.  


Open and Notorious-the court would determine whether the two months a year and the paint jobs (always the same color) would provide notice either actual or inquiry.  For several months of the year Dr. A physically lives there.  The facts state she leaves virtually no trace of the camp, strong evidence that notice may not be met.  As evidence, although not dispositive, Dr. A is running a camp service likely to have some sort of reputation in the area and likely to have some kind of notice to those in the community.  Depending on how large the lot is, the residents may know when the campers are there.  Courts will often interpret notice very loosely, punishing sleeping owners.  I think the notice requirement would be met, similar to Ray where the seasonal use consistent with the upkeep of the land provide ample notice to the owner.  


Continuous use can also be established by Ray.  


Exclusivity:  No evidence that this is a problem for Dr. A's claim either.  

Adverse Possession of SouthAcre: There is no reason for FFF to doubt their title, so their adverse claim will certainly have the benefit of being accompanied by color of title.  They gain the same presumption of hostile use in most jurisdictions.  


Actual Use-not sure if the underground complex has been build after the other uses of the property, but still was completed in 1999 meaning this can be used against MM.  The statutory period requires 10 years and the underground complex has been completed for over 10 years.  Kevin's actual use is the underground complex (of which there may be no notice), the surveying, allowing members of the public (which may break exclusivity/not acting as actual owner), and holding company events once or twice a year.  Seeing as how there are problems with other components of FFF's claim, if they are stripped of title their claim may be more difficult to pursue on adverse possession grounds.  FFF lets the wooded lot essentially run wild, they are not truly acting like an owner would.  They even take pride to restore the lot to its pristine natural conditions.  It is not clear how many people a year actually do hike or picnic.  The underground building provides pretty substantial evidence of actual use. FFF is a company:  if they don't need the land for business purposes, what are they supposed to do with it?  They leave it underdeveloped as a sort of park for their employees and the general public.  They survey the land and take care of it, but leave it pristine.  The sum of all the uses probably point to the kind of use that a landowner, given substantial resources, would do.  He really makes a very good use of his lot, preserving the service while deriving some utility.  


Open and Notorious: The court may compare the underground facility, of which there isn't even a manhole to the caves in Marengo Caves, leaving FFF's claim to rely on the more flimsy public access, surveys, and rare company gatherings.  If a good number of people take advantage of the land for public use, the Court will probably take this as good notice to the owner.  Courts generally interpret open and notorious very broadly and will point to reasonable inferences a land owner standing on the land would have made.  This may be the strongest prong for MM, it is unfortunate that the courts will interpret this prong most broadly.  


Exclusive:  Even if the court were to allow the hikers as evidence of notice, they may destroy FFF's claim on exclusivity grounds.  The Court may presume the use is permissive, however, and this is a difficult presumption to defeat.  Also, the fact pattern states he allows hikers to use this space (how that is manifested is not clear).  If the presumption is hostile use, this may destroy his claim of exclusivity.  Also, under ITT v. Bell-as long as FFF was acting as the true owner, they will meet this requirement.  


Continuous-need not be on land every day, although somebody likely is using it nearly every day weather permitting.  Under the land, probably used every business day.  

MM as a character or a story:  MM has one major advantage: as in Ray, she is a military officer.  She has not been able to diligently patrol her land and the court may allow her some leeway because of her disability/situation.  She may not be considered the sleeping owner that AP usually encounters.  Further, the Court generally does not broadly construe AP claims.  MM can play up her role in the military, stationed across the globe.  


One thing the case might turn on, however, is where Fort Norris is located.  If Fort Norris is close to North and South Acre than the it is harder to claim that her position prevented her from ever visiting the land she is claiming.  Further, she never visited DC or cared to investigate into his death or his will, which she certainly could have done from wherever she was stationed.  She was concerned only with her own property interest.  Sometimes the Court will start with the result it wants, and work backwards if you give them a story they want to hear.  [MAF:  This is a nice addition at the end of the answer, raising interesting new points.]
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